
 

North Liberty City Council 
Regular Session 
October 8, 2024 



 

City Administrator Memo 



 

 

To Mayor and City Council 
From Ryan Heiar, City Administrator 
Date October 4, 2024 
Re City Council Agenda October 8, 2024 

Consent Agenda 
The following items are on the consent agenda and 
included in the packet: 

• City Council Minutes (09/24/24) 
• Pay Application #2, Forevergreen Road 

Signalization Project, Eastern Iowa Excavating & 
Concrete, $509,142.03 

• Claims 

Authorization to Acknowledge Terms of Settlement 
In July and September, the City of North Liberty hosted settlement conferences 
between the Cities of Coralville and Tiffin, and certain adjoining landowners who have 
been in litigation over the disposition of the intersection of Forevergreen Road and 
Jasper Avenue for several years. North Liberty is not a party to any of the litigation, but 
wishes to be part of a solution. North Liberty proposed the construction of a roundabout 
at the intersection in question, and through those conferences the parties agreed to a 
framework providing for the construction of a roundabout, and for the construction of 
Jasper Avenue to the south. The settlement terms contemplate that the roundabout 
project will be headed by North Liberty, and that Tiffin will contribute half of those project 
costs. Coralville will be responsible for the costs of the construction of Jasper Avenue to 
the south. Acknowledgement of these terms will allow the Cities and parties to approve a 
more formal agreement, to be brought before the Council in the coming weeks. Once 
approved, design work can commence, and construction on the roundabout would begin 
in 2026. Staff recommends the City Council acknowledge and authorize the general 
terms of the settlement as described above with a voice vote. 

Buck Moon Villas Preliminary Site Plan 
This preliminary site plan – east side of North Dubuque Street approximately 300 feet 
southeast of Ranshaw Way – proposes 11 townhouse units in three buildings on 1.6 acres. 
This portion of the development is zoned RM-12 Multi-Unit Residence District and has 
been planned for townhouses since the development’s initial rezoning. The site plan 
achieves consistency with zoning and design requirements. The Planning Commission 

Meetings & Events 
 
Tuesday, Oct 8 at 6:00p.m. 
City Council 
 
Monday, Oct 21 at 7:00 p.m.  
Library Board 
 
Tuesday, Oct 22 at 6:00p.m. 
City Council 
 
 
 



unanimously approved the request at its October 1 meeting. Staff also recommends 
approval of the site plan. 

Parking Resolution 
The City received separate citizen requests to remove on-street parking from one side 
of Chipman Lane and from the other side of Emily Street. Staff is generally in favor of 
limiting on-street parking to one side of a street primarily for easier snow clearing and 
emergency service access. Restricting parking on one side of Chipman Lane is important 
because the road is planned to be extended to future Alexander Way. Parking is already 
prohibited on the east side of Emily Street. For Emily Street, it was realized that the west 
side could only accommodate one or two vehicles due to the location of driveways and 
mailboxes. Staff sent letters to affected property owners on both streets and has no 
negative feedback has been received. Staff recommends approval of the resolution. 

Code of Ordinances Amendments (as amended on 
09/24/24) 
This City initiated Ordinance amendment is a continued effort to modernize zoning 
regulations by adapting to land use trends and best planning practices, provide better 
clarity on intent and fix errors or omissions. Giving citizens and developers flexibility while 
maintaining North Liberty’s community standards is always a primary consideration. A 
notable change includes allowing townhouses on individual lots. There have been more 
requests for this due to mortgage lending requirements. Another includes language 
reflecting an amendment to the Iowa State Code regarding the City’s inability to regulate 
exterior cladding on “any single or multifamily residential dwelling and includes single-
family and two-family dwellings and townhouses, condominiums and apartments with a 
maximum of twelve units per building, and all secondary structures to such a single or 
multifamily residential dwelling”. Staff is taking the opportunity to delete the requirement 
in the Subdivision Ordinance requiring the City to reimburse upsizing of a sewer main. 
Similar language does not exist for requiring the upsizing of a water main. The Planning 
Commission unanimously recommended approval of the ordinance amendment at its 
September 3 meeting. 

Note: In response to a question at the previous meeting regarding administrative 
changes for site plan amendments, staff has inserted an example based on a recently 
approved site plan. This example shows the maximum changes allowed with the 
proposed language.  

A key part of the originally proposed amendment - regulations allowing Accessory 
Dwelling Units (ADUs) – was amended out of the first reading of this ordinance at the 



September 24 meeting. Staff will coordinate a future discussion with Council about 
ADU’s.  

Corridor Media Property Rezoning Request 
This rezoning request at 2345 Landon Road (1.53 acres) to C-3 Higher Intensity 
Commercial District is to allow the property owner greater flexibility for tenant spaces. A 
virtual good neighbor meeting was held on August 19. No one outside City staff and the 
applicant attended and there are no formal objections to the request. Office research 
parks have been a declining trend, which has been exasperated by Covid-19. Staff 
envisions the O/RP district eventually being deleted as a zoning district. If this property is 
rezoned to C-3, only two properties (GEICO and Green State Credit Union) in the City 
would remain zoned O/RP Office and Research Park District. The Planning Commission 
unanimously recommended approval of these rezonings at its September 3 meeting. 
Staff recommends approval as well. 



 

Agenda 



 

City of North Liberty – 2024  Updated October 3, 2024, 1:00 p.m. 
Page: 1 

CITY COUNCIL 
Tuesday, October 8, 2024 

6:00 p.m. 
Regular Session 

Council Chambers 
360 N. Main Street 

1. Call to order   
 

2. Roll call 
 

3. Approval of the Agenda 
 

4. Consent Agenda 
A. City Council Minutes, Regular Session, September 24, 2024 
B. Forevergreen Road Signal Improvement Project, Pay Application Number 2, 

Eastern Iowa Excavating & Concrete, $509,142.03 
C. Claims  

 
5. Public Comment 

 
6. Engineer Report  

 
7. City Administrator Report  

 
8. Mayor Report 

 
9. Council Reports  

 
10. Settlement Agreement between Tiffin, Coralville, and certain Property 

Owners 
A. Discussion and possible action to acknowledge the terms of a Settlement 

Agreement between Tiffin, Coralville, and certain Property Owners 
 

11. Buck Moon Villas Preliminary Site Plan 
A. Staff & Commission Recommendations 
B. Applicant Presentation 
C. Resolution Number 2024-97, A Resolution approving the Preliminary Site 

Plan for Buck Moon Villas, Lots 58 -60, North Liberty, Iowa  
 

12. Parking Resolution  
A. Resolution Number 2024-98, A Resolution Approving Parking Control 

Devices in the City of North Liberty, Iowa   



City of North Liberty – 2024  Updated October 3, 2024, 1:00 p.m. 
Page: 2 

13. Code of Ordinances Amendments 
A. Second consideration of Ordinance Number 2024-09, An Ordinance 

amending the Zoning Code and Subdivision Ordinance regulations for 
Preliminary Site Plans, Zoning Certificates, Defined terms, Residential 
Density, Permitted Uses and Use Standards, Parking Requirements, Parking 
Lot Landscaping, Fences and Walls, Yard Encroachments, Design Standards 
and Required Improvements for Subdivisions 

14. Corridor Media Properties, LLC Rezoning 
A. Third consideration and adoption of Ordinance Number 2024-08, An 

Ordinance amending the Zoning Map District designation for certain 
property located in North Liberty, Iowa from O/RP Office and Research Park 
District to C-3 Higher-Intensity Commercial District  

 
15. Old Business 

 
16. New Business 

 
17. Adjournment  



 

Consent Agenda 



 

City of North Liberty – 2024 
Page: 1 

City Council 
September 24, 2024 

Regular Session 
 
Call to order   
Mayor Hoffman called the September 24, 2024, Regular Session of the North Liberty City Council 
to order at 6:00 p.m. in Council Chambers at 360 N. Main Street. Councilors present: Brian Leibold, 
Paul Park, Erek Sittig, Brent Smith, and Brian Wayson.  
Others present: Tracey Mulcahey, Grant Lientz, Josiah Bilskemper, Ryan Rusnak, Allison Tippe, 
Diego Polito, William Gorman and other interested parties. 
 
Approval of the Agenda 
Park moved; Sittig seconded to approve the agenda. The vote was all ayes. Agenda approved.  
 
Consent Agenda 
Smith moved,  Wayson seconded to approve the Consent Agenda including the City Council 
Minutes, Regular Session, September 10, 2024; Centennial Park Event Complex, Pay Application 
Number 1, Larson Construction, Co., Inc., $325,090.63; Streets & Maintenance Facility Interior 
Remodel, Change Order Number 2, Peak Construction Group, Inc., $2,426.84; Penn Street 
Railroad Crossing Improvements Project, Change Order Number 2, Midwest Concrete, Inc., 
$15,000.00; Penn Street Railroad Crossing Improvements Project, Pay Application Number 2, 
Midwest Concrete, Inc., $14,543.55; Liquor License Application, City of North Liberty, Nightmare 
on Ale Street, October 19, 2024; Liquor License Renewal, Mirabito’s Italian; and the attached list of 
Claims.  After discussion, the vote was all ayes. Consent Agenda approved.    
 
Public Comment 
No public comment was offered.   
 
City Engineer Report 
City Engineer Bilskemper reported on projects that are finishing up, Fox Run Pond Trail & 
Playground, the signals on Forevergreen Road, and Ranshaw Way, Phase 5.  
 
City Administrator Report  
No City Administrator report was offered.  
 
Mayor Report 
Mayor Hoffman proclaimed Domestic Violence Awareness Month and Hispanic Heritage Month.  
Allison Tippe, DVIP/RVAP, offered additional information on the Domestic Violence Awareness 
Month Proclamation.   Diego Polito, a freshman at Liberty High School, offered additional 
information on the Hispanic Heritage Month Proclamation.  
 
Council Reports 



City of North Liberty – 2024 
Page: 2 

Councilor Smith passed along Council condolences for loss of DVIP team member in a bike 
accident. Herky on Parade has ended successfully. He spoke regarding the Johnson County 
Conservation bond on ballot in November. The African Festival of Arts and Culture is this coming 
weekend.  Councilor Sittig attended the Greater IC Lunch Connections.  He offered that the 
Pantry groundbreaking is on Oct. 1 at 4:30 p.m.  Councilor Park attended program on trafficking in 
Iowa hosted by the Secretary of State.  He attended the Liberty Homecoming parade. Councilor 
Leibold expressed appreciation for all the staff and elected officials for all the good things going 
on in the community.  He attended the Liberty Homecoming parade.   
 
Code of Ordinances Amendments 
At 6:19 p.m. Mayor Hoffman opened the Public Hearing regarding proposed amendments to the 
Code of Ordinances related to zoning and development.  William Gorman of the Housing Action 
Team of the Johnson County Livable Community for Successful Aging Policy Board offered 
support for the draft including Accessory Dwelling Units. The public hearing was closed at 6:20 
p.m.  
Rusnak reported that staff and Planning Commission recommend approval with no conditions. He 
presented information on the proposed amendments. Council discussed the ordinance with staff.  
Sittig moved, Wayson seconded to approve the first consideration of Ordinance Number 2024-
09, An Ordinance amending the Zoning Code and Subdivision Ordinance regulations for 
Preliminary Site Plans, Zoning Certificates, Defined terms, Residential Density, Permitted Uses and 
Use Standards, Parking Requirements, Parking Lot Landscaping, Fences and Walls, Yard 
Encroachments, Design Standards and Required Improvements for Subdivisions.  Smith moved 
to remove Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs) from the ordinance, Wayson seconded.  After 
discussion, the vote on the amendment was: ayes – Wayson, Leibold, Smith; nays – Sittig, Park.  
Motion carried. Amendment approved.  After discussion, the vote on the first consideration of the 
ordinance as amended was: ayes – Smith, Wayson, Sittig, Leibold, Park; nays – none. Motion 
carried.  
 
Corridor Media Properties, LLC Rezoning 
Sittig moved, Leibold seconded to approve the first consideration of Ordinance Number 2024-
08, An Ordinance amending the Zoning Map District designation for certain property located in 
North Liberty, Iowa from O/RP Office and Research Park District to C-3 Higher-Intensity 
Commercial District.  After discussion, the vote was: ayes –Leibold, Sittig, Wayson, Smith; nays – 
none; abstain – Park. Motion carried.   
 
Old Business 
No old business was presented.  
 
New Business 
No new business was presented.  
 
Adjournment 
Sittig moved; Park seconded to adjourn at 6:52 p.m. The vote was all ayes. Meeting adjourned.     
 



City of North Liberty – 2024 
Page: 3 

CITY OF NORTH LIBERTY 
 
 
By:  __________________________ 

Chris Hoffman, Mayor  
 

Attest: ________________________ 
Tracey Mulcahey, City Clerk 





 

Buck Moon Villas 
Preliminary Site Plan 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 

• 



 

 



F

F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

2W
12W

12W
12W

12W
12W

12W
12W

12W
12W

12W

12W

12W

12W

12W

12W

12W

12W

12W

12W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12
W

12W 12W 12W 12W 12W 12W 12W 12W 12W 12W 12W 12W 12W 12W 12W 12W

F
F

F
F

F

F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F

FFFFF

F
F

FFFFFFFFFFFFFFF

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F
F

F

FFFFFFFF

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 5

' B
ER

M
PR

O
PO

SE
D

 5
' B

ER
M

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 5

' B
ER

M

EXISTING
 TRAIL

EXISTIN
G

 TR
AIL







































































sanitary manhole may or may not exist

LE
GACY C

OURT



EX. PHONE UTILITY BOX

EX. PHONE UTILITY BOX

EX. PHONE UTILITY BOX
EX. PHONE UTILITY BOX

EX. PHONE UTILITY BOX

EX. FENCE

REVISIONS:
DESCRIPTION

9/24/2024DATE:

CRT
CHECKED BY:

DRAWING LOCATION
S:\CUMMINS\NORTH LIBERTY\DRAWINGS

DRAWN BY:
BJB NO.

DEVELOPERPROJECT SHEET NO.

BEFORE YOU DIG
Call 2 Working Days

IOWA
ONE CALL

AWOI

BUCK MOON VILLAS
FOR

SITE PLAN, LOTS 58-60

AN ADDITION TO THE CITY OF NORTH LIBERTY, IOWA

OWNER / DEVELOPER

TOWNSEND ENGINEERING

(563) 386-4236

2224 E. 12th STREET
DAVENPORT, IA 52803

ENGINEER

SURVEYOR

JOSEPH E. SCHMALL
ATTORNEY

2007 FIRST AVENUE SE
PO BOX 2804
CEDAR RAPIDS, IA, 52406

BUCK MOON VILLAS, LLC.
2198 HENDERSHOT RD
NORTH LIBERTY, IA 52317
(319) 430-5200

BUCK MOON VILLAS

NORTH LIBERTY, IOWA
DUBUQUE STREET

BUCK MOON VILLAS, LLC.

NORTH LIBERTY, IA 52317
2198 HENDERSHOT RD

COVER SHEET
DATE

PER CITY COMMENTS AND UPDATED BUILDING PLANS. 1. 9-20-2024
ADJUST COMBINED APPROACH WIDTH PER CITY COMMENTS.2. 9-24-2024

       
      

TOWNSEND ENGINEERING

(563) 386-4236

2224 E. 12th STREET
DAVENPORT, IA 52803

APPROXIMATE SITE LOCATION

All sanitary sewer, storm sewer, water service and paving shall be
complete in conformance with the current standards and

specifications (SUDAS and NL'S SUDAS Supplement to SUDAS)
of the City of North Liberty, Iowa

(319) 861-8729

9/24/2024

C0

SHEET INDEX:
C0 - COVER SHEET
C1 - SITE PLAN

LOT 58

RM-12 Zoning Requirements
Minimum Lot Area: 21,780 SF/3,500 SF/DU
Minimum Frontage: 50’
Minimum Lot Width: 80’
Maximum Building Height: 40'
Front Yard Setback:  25' Minimum
Corner Yard Setback:  25' Minimum
Side Yard Setback: 15' Minimum
Rear Yard Setback: 30' Minimum

Parking: Townhouse Dwelling, 2 per Dwelling Unit
Number of Units: 11
Number of Parking Spaces: 22 (2 in each garage)

LOT 59

LOT 60

PROPOSED TRI-PLEX BUILDING HEIGHT = 23'-6"
PROPOSED FOUR-PLEX BUILDING HEIGHT = 23'-6"

BUILDING AREA:
TRI-PLEX = 5,722 SQ. FT.
FOUR-PLEX = 7,612 SQ. FT.



UNIT D

GARAGE

1,916 SF

PR
O

PO
SED

 D
R

IVE
(821 S.F.)

UNIT B
1,916 SF

GARAGE

PR
O

PO
SED

 D
R

IVE
(770 S.F.)

UNIT C

GARAGE

1,916 SF

PR
O

PO
SED

 D
R

IVE
(734 S.F.)

UNIT A
1,916 SF

GARAGE

PR
O

PO
SED

 D
R

IVE
(821 S.F.)

66'

40'

20'

64.1'

40'

15'

66
'

40'

15'

66'

40'

20'25'25'

UNIT A UNIT B UNIT C

GARAGE

1,890 SF 1,916 SF 1,916 SF

GARAGE GARAGE

F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F F

UNIT A

GARAGE

1,916 SF

PR
O

PO
SED

 D
R

IVE
(1,387 S.F.)

UNIT B
1,916 SF

GARAGE

UNIT C

GARAGE

1,916 SF
UNIT D

1,916 SF

GARAGE

PR
O

PO
SED

 D
R

IVE
(773 S.F.)

PR
O

PO
SED

 D
R

IVE
(734 S.F.)

PR
O

PO
SED

 D
R

IVE
(1,387 S.F.)

65.2'

40'

20'
64.2'

40'

15'

66.1'

40'

65.2'

40'

20' 15'15' 45'45'

LO
T 6

0
± 0

.58
 A

C.

LO
T 5

8
± 0

.46
 A

C.

30
+0

0

40+00 41+00 42+00 43+00 44+00 45+00 46+00 46+20

76
+0

0
77

+0
0

78
+0

0

13
+0

0
14

+0
0

15
+0

0

S

SP-10

SP
-5

P42

P41

P4
0

P39

P3
6

P35

P5

P4

P3

P2

P1

P1
4 

b

SP-14

P72

P1
4 

a

P71

PROPOSED 8' TRAIL8' TRAIL





































N-14
SAN-10

SAN-5

SAN-4

AI-3

CI-23

CI-22

CI-18

CI-19

CI-4

CI-3

ST MH-9

FES-2

CI-2

CI-1

F

CI-24

FES-3

FE

ST MH-8

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 D

R
IV

E
(1

,2
38

 S
.F

.)

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 D

R
IV

E
(8

38
 S

.F
.)

PR
O

PO
SE

D
 D

R
IV

E
(8

38
 S

.F
.)

25
' B

ui
ld

in
g 

Se
tb

ac
k

ELECTRIC
EASEMENT

15
' U

TI
LI

TY
 E

AS
EM

EN
T

30' Building Setback

25' Building Setback

(3
32

.2
7'

)

(S
47

° 1
3'

 3
3"

W
)

(N42° 47' 14"W) (653.15')



ECTR
IC

EXIS
TIN

G H
AND

EX C
ABLE

60'

S30° 42' 08"E35.88'

N47° 03' 02"E
7.50'

N42° 46' 01"W
35.06'

15' UTILITY EASEMENT

25' Building Setback

15' UTILITY EASEMENT

778

77
9

78
0

779

78
1

78
2

78
3

78
4

785

783

78
3

78
4

77
6

77
7

77
8

77
9

780

785

781

78278
3784

775

775

78
0

78
5

774

774

776

777

778

77
9

781
782

78
378

4

785 784

78
5

78
6

78
5

78
3

78
4

78
6

780

779

781

781

NORTH DUBUQUE STREET

Le
ga

cy
 C

ou
rt

Ed
w

ar
d 

D
riv

e

Millie Lane

N
47

° 1
1'

 2
8"

E
12

4.
33

'

15' UTILITY EASEMENT

PROPOSED LOT LINE



LO
T 5

9
± 0

.56
 A

C.

PROPOSED WATER SERVICE
CONNECTION TO EXISTING CURB
STOP, TYPICAL, EACH UNIT

PROPOSED LOT LINE PROPOSED LOT LINE

PROPOSED SANITARY
SERVICE CONNECTION TO
EXISTING SANITARY SERVICE,
TYPICAL, EACH UNIT.

PROPOSED LOT LINE

PROPOSED LOT LINE

PROPOSED LOT LINE

PROPOSED LOT LINE

653.25'

S4
7°

 1
2'

 1
8"

W
33

2.
30

'

60.00'

C63

N
47

° 1
1'

 2
8"

E
12

4.
25

'

N
47

° 1
1'

 2
8"

E
12

4.
28

'

65.50'

N
47

° 1
2'

 1
8"

E
11

4.
61

'

L=15.71' , R=10.00

N42° 48' 32"W  191.34'

S42° 46' 01"E  201.31'

N
47

° 1
1'

 2
8"

E
12

4.
47

'

S42° 46' 01"E  196.00'

N42° 48' 32"W  152.28'

L=
15

.7
3 '

, R=10.00

S4
7°

 0
3'

 0
2"

W
  1

14
.1

8'

N
47

° 1
1'

 2
8"

E
12

4.
37

'

N
47

° 1
1'

 2
8"

E
12

4.
43

'

N
47

° 1
1'

 2
8"

E
12

4.
51

'

N
47

° 1
1'

 2
8"

E
12

4.
54

'

N
47

° 1
1'

 2
8"

E
12

4.
57

'

58.00' 40.00' 40.00' 58.00' 55.67' 40.00' 40.00' 65.64'

55.78' 40.00' 56.50' 58.00' 40.00' 40.00' 58.00' 55.67' 40.00' 40.00' 55.67'N42° 48' 32"W  196.00'

S42° 46' 01"E  162.00'
40.00' 56.50'

25
'

29'

16.5'

34
.8

'

26.6'

25
'

120'

40'40'40'

20'
20' 20'

64
.5

'

20'20'

18' 18' 15.7'

18'
34

.8
'

34
.9

'

35
'

35
.1

'

25.7'

35.7'18'

33.2'
33.3'

25.7'

3' 4'
5'










PROPOSED
WALK, TYP

EXISTING ADA
RAMP, TYP

EXISTING ADA
RAMP, TYP

PROPOSED
WALK, TYP

CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD
ADJUST SANITARY MANHOLE
RIM FLUSH TO PROPOSED
DRIVEWAY GRADE AT TIME
OF DRIVEWAY INSTALLATION.

9/24/2024DATE:

CRT
CHECKED BY:

DRAWING LOCATION
S:\CUMMINS\NORTH LIBERTY\DRAWINGS

DRAWN BY:
BJB

DEVELOPERPROJECT LOT 58 SITE PLAN

DUBUQUE STREET
BUCK MOON VILLAS

SHEET NO.
BUCK MOON VILLAS, LLC.

NORTH LIBERTY, IA 52317
2198 HENDERSHOT RD

BEFORE YOU DIG
Call 2 Working Days

IOWA
ONE CALL

SITE PLAN

TO THE CITY OF NORTH LIBERTY, IA

BUCK MOON VILLAS

NORTH LIBERTY, IOWA

REVISIONS:
DESCRIPTIONNO. DATE

1.
2.
  
  

C1

LOTS 58-60

PROPOSED BUILDING HEIGHT = 23'-6"

AREA:
TRI-PLEX = 5,722 SQ. FT.
FOUR-PLEX = 7,612 SQ. FT.

Quantity
Minimum planting sizes are as follows. For the purposes of determining trunk size, the diameter/caliper is measured at
six inches above ground level, unless otherwise specified in current ANSI accredited Horticultural Standards.
A.            Evergreen trees must have a minimum height of six feet.
B.            Shade trees must have a minimum clear trunk height of four feet above the ground with a two-inch caliper.
C.           Single stem ornamental trees must have a minimum trunk size of two inches in caliper. Multiple stem
ornamental trees must have a minimum height of eight feet.

1 PER 750

PER CITY COMMENTS AND UPDATED BUILDING PLANS. 9-20-2024
ADJUST COMBINED APPROACH WIDTH PER CITY COMMENTS. 9-24-2024

     
  



3 Plex







4 Plex







North Liberty – 2024  Resolution Number 2024-97 
Page 1 

Resolution No. 2024-97 
 

RESOLUTION APPROVING THE PRELIMINARY SITE 
PLAN FOR BUCK MOON VILLAS, LOTS 58-60, NORTH 
LIBERTY, IOWA 

 
BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH LIBERTY, 

IOWA: 
  
 WHEREAS, the owner and applicant, North Liberty Community Pantry, has filed 
with the City Clerk a preliminary site plan;  
 
 WHEREAS, the property is described as:  
 Buck Moon Villas, Lots 58-60; and 
 
 WHEREAS, said preliminary site plan has one finding: 

 
1. The preliminary site plan would achieve consistency with the approval 
standards enumerated in Section 165.05(2)(E) of the Zoning Code.  

 
 WHEREAS, said preliminary site plan has been examined by the North Liberty 
Planning and Zoning Commission, which recommended that the preliminary site plan be 
approved with no conditions.  
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the City Council of North Liberty, 
Iowa, does hereby approve the preliminary site plan for Buck Moon Villas, Lots 58 - 60, 
North Liberty, Iowa.  
 
APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 8th day of October, 2024. 
 
CITY OF NORTH LIBERTY: 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
CHRIS HOFFMAN, MAYOR 
 
 
 
 
 



North Liberty – 2024  Resolution Number 2024-97 
Page 2 

ATTEST: 
 
I, Tracey Mulcahey, City Clerk of the City of North Liberty, hereby certify that at a meeting 
of the City Council of said City, held on the above date, among other proceedings, the 
above was adopted. 
 
 
________________________________________ 
TRACEY MULCAHEY, CITY CLERK 



 

Parking Resolution  



 



City of North Liberty – 2024  Resolution Number 2024-98 
Page: 1 

Resolution No. 2024-98 
 
A RESOLUTION APPROVING PARKING CONTROL DEVICES IN 
THE CITY OF NORTH LIBERTY, IOWA 

 
WHEREAS, Section 69.08 of the North Liberty Code of Ordinances authorizes the 

City Council to establish by resolution and cause to be placed parking control devices that 
prohibit or limit parking at designated locations in accordance with Chapter 69 of the 
City’s Code; and 
 

WHEREAS, the City Council has previously prohibited or limited parking 
throughout the City and has now reviewed the same. 
 

BE IT THEREFORE NOW RESOLVED by the City Council of North Liberty, Iowa, 
that the City of North Liberty, Iowa, hereby establishes the placement of parking control 
devices to prohibit or limit parking for the City’s street system as follows in the attached 
chart.  
  
APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 8th day October, 2024. 
 
CITY OF NORTH LIBERTY: 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
CHRIS HOFFMAN, MAYOR 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 
I, Tracey Mulcahey, City Clerk of the City of North Liberty, hereby certify that at a meeting 
of the City Council of said City, held on the above date, among other proceedings, the 
above was adopted. 
 
 
 
________________________________________ 
TRACEY MULCAHEY, CITY CLERK 
 



 

Street Name Side of Street Parking is Prohibited Parking 
Restriction 

236th Street North side to a point 140’ west of the centerline of its intersection with Progress 
Street 

No parking at any time 

236th Street South side between Progress Street and North Jones Boulevard No parking at any time 
238th Street Both sides between Progress Street and North Jones Boulevard No parking at any time 
240th Street Both sides No parking at any time 
Alderwood Road West side No parking at any time 
Alexander Way Both sides No parking at any time 
Ashley Court South side from its east terminus to Highway 965/Ranshaw Way No parking at any time 
Berkshire Lane North side from its east terminus to a point 330' west of the centerline of its 

intersection with Osage Lane 
Lane to its east terminus 

No parking at any time 

Birch Street North side to a point 475’ west of the centerline of its intersection with Front Street  No parking at any time 

Birch Street South side from Front Street to the easternmost South Stewart Street No parking at any time 
Brook Ridge Avenue West side No parking at any time 
Centro Way Both sides No parking at any time 

Cherry Street (East) Both sides between Dubuque Street and Front Street except the three most western 
spots on the south side 

Parking limited to 30 
minutes between 8:00 
a.m. to 3:00 p.m. 

Cherry Street (West) North side from a point 34’ west of the centerline of its intersection with South Front 
Street to a point 103’ west of the centerline of its intersection with South Front Street 

Parking limited to 60 
minutes between 8:00 
a.m. to 3:00 p.m. 

Cherry Street (West) North side from a point 103’ west of the centerline of its intersection with South Front 
Street west 110’ 

No parking at any time 

Cherry Street (West) North side from a point 190’ east of the centerline of its intersections with North Main 
Street west 100’ 

Parking limited to Fire 
Department personnel 
only 

Cherry Street (West) South side from Front Street to CRANDIC railroad crossing No parking at any time 

Cherry Street (West) Both sides from the CRANDIC railroad crossing to Highway 965/Ranshaw Way 
 
 

No parking at any time 

Cherry Street (West) South side from Highway 965/Ranshaw Way to its westerly termination No parking at any time 
Chipman Lane North side No parking at any time 

Clark Avenue West side No parking at any time 

Commercial Drive Both sides No parking at any time 
Community Drive West and north sides (street curves) west of Highway 965/Ranshaw Way except east 

side to a point 225’ south of the centerline of its intersection with Penn Street 
No parking at any time 

Community Drive West and north sides (street curves) east of Highway 965/Ranshaw Way No parking at any time 

Cook Circle West side No parking at any time 
Cypress Ridge West side No parking at any time 
Deerfield Drive West North side No parking at any time 

Denison Avenue North side No parking at any time 
Devmont Court South side No parking at any time 
Diamond Boulevard North and South side (street curves) No parking at any time 

Dickinson Drive North side from Dubuque Street east to its intersection with Whitman 
Avenue 

No parking at any time 

Dubuque Street Both sides except west side to a point 230’ south of its intersection with Main Street 
 

No parking at any time 

Eisenhower Boulevard West and south sides (street curves) No parking at any time 



Street Name Side of Street Parking is Prohibited Parking 
Restriction 

Elm Grove Avenue North side No parking at any time 
Elm Ridge Court North, west and south sides adjacent to odd-numbered addresses (street curves) No parking at any time 
Elm Ridge Drive East side No parking at any time 
Emily Street Both sides No parking at any time 
Forevergreen Road Both sides No parking at any time 

Foundry Lane South side No parking at any time 

Front Street Both sides No parking at any time 
Hackberry Street North side No parking at any time 
Hackberry Street South side to a point 320’ west the centerline of its intersection with Juniper Court No parking at any time 
Harlen Street North side No parking at any time 

Harrison Street West side No parking at any time 

Hawkeye Drive Both sides No parking at any time 
Hawkeye Drive Both sides between Spartan Drive and Highway 965/Ranshaw Way No parking at any time 
Hawthorne Place West and south sides (street curves) No parking at any time 
Hayes Lane Both sides No parking at any time 

Heartland Way Both sides No parking at any time 

Hedgwood Circle West side No parking at any time 
Heritage Drive North and East side of 10 – 100 block (street curves)  

South and East side of 100 - 200 block (street curves) 
 

Parking limited to 6:00 
a.m. to 6:00 p.m. on 
even-numbered days 

Heritage Drive South and West side of 10 – 100 block (street curves)  
North and West side of 100 - 200 block (street curves) 
 

Parking limited to 6:00 
a.m. to 6:00 p.m. on 
odd-numbered days 

Heritage Place North side Parking limited to 6:00 
a.m. to 6:00 p.m. on 
even-numbered days 

Heritage Place South side Parking limited to 6:00 
a.m. to 6:00 p.m. on 
odd-numbered days 

Herky Street West side No parking at any time 

Hickory Street (East) West, north and east side adjacent to Lots 6, 39-45, 38 less the north 80’ thereof & 31-34 
Beaver Kreek 1st Addition (street curves) 

No parking at any time 

Hickory Street (East) West and south side adjacent to Lot 29 Beaver Kreek 1st Addition (street curves) No parking at any time 

Highway 965/Ranshaw Way Both sides No parking at any time 

Hodge Street East side No parking at any time 

Jefferson Street (East) South side No parking at any time 

Jessie Street West side and anywhere on the two extensions on the east side and west side of Jessie 
Street 

No parking at any time 

Jonathan Street West side No parking at any time 

Jones Boulevard Both sides between Forevergreen Road and 240th Street No parking at any time 
Jones Boulevard East side from Eight Point Trail to its north terminus No parking at any time 
Julia Drive West side No parking at any time 

Juniper Court Both sides from Hackberry Street to Juniper Street No parking at any time 
Juniper Court East, north and west side (street curves) from both intersections with Juniper Street No parking at any time 

Juniper Street North side to a point 228’ west the centerline of its intersection with Dubuque Street 
west 

No parking at any time 

Juniper Street South side No parking at any time 



Street Name Side of Street Parking is Prohibited Parking 
Restriction 

Kansas Avenue Both sides No parking at any time 
Liberty Way East side north of Penn Street No parking at any time 

Liberty Way West and north side (street curves) between Penn Street and Jones Boulevard except 
east and south side to a point 300’ south of the centerline of its intersection with West 
Penn Street 

No parking at any time 

Lincoln Drive South side from Cameron Way to its terminus No parking at any time 
Lininger Lane Both sides No parking at any time 
Linden Lane East side No parking at any time 
Lions Drive Both sides No parking at any time 
Madison Avenue North and west side (street curves) No parking at any time 

Main Street West side No parking at any time 
Maple Street North side No parking at any time 
Mayer Street West side No parking at any time 

Molly Drive East side No parking at any time 

Morrison Street West side No parking at any time 

North Stewart Street East side to a point 300’ south of the centerline of its intersection with Penn Street No parking at any time 

Oak Terrace Avenue East and north sides (street curves) No parking at any time 
Ogden Lane North side No parking at any time 
Osage Lane East and north sides (street curves) No parking at any time 
Parkview Court Both sides to a point 100’ south of the centerline of its intersection with Zeller Street No parking at any time 

Parkview Court East side beginning at a point 1,185’ south of the centerline of its intersection with 
Zeller Street to a point 55’ south of the beginning intersection of Zeller Street 

No parking at any time 

Parker Court North side No parking at any time 

Penn Court Both sides on both the North and West parts of the street No parking at any time 
Penn Street Both sides No parking at any time 
Pheasant Lane South side from Scales Bend Road to Highway 965/Ranshaw Way No parking at any time 
Prairie Ridge Road North and east side (street curves) No parking at any time 
Prairie Ridge Road South side to a point 200’ west the centerline of its intersection with Sugar Creek Lane No parking at any time 

Priscilla Court South side No parking at any time 

Progress Street Both sides No parking at any time 
Rachael Street West side from its intersection with Blue Sky Drive to its southern terminus No parking at any time 

Redbud Circle East side No parking at any time 
River Bend Lane West side No parking at any time 
Ruth Avenue West side No parking at any time 

Salm Drive North and west side from North Liberty Road to Ogden Lane (street curves) No parking at any time 

Sara Court South and west side No parking at any time 
Scarlet Oak Circle West side No parking at any time 
Silver Maple Trail South side from its eastern terminus to Cypress Ridge No parking at any time 
Stoner Court Both sides No parking at any time 
Sugar Creek Lane Both sides from Zeller Street to Fairview Lane except the east side between 

Westwood Drive and Fairview Lane 
No parking at any time 

Suttner Drive North side No parking at any time 

Tower Drive North side No parking at any time 

Tupelo Drive West side No parking at any time 
Vandello Circle North side between Lots 33 and 37 Creekside Subdivision – Part Four No parking at any time 
Vandello Drive North side No parking at any time 



Street Name Side of Street Parking is Prohibited Parking 
Restriction 

Vandello Drive South side between Front Street and Cook Street and to a point 60’ from its intersection 
with Sadler Drive 

No parking at any time 

Weston Street (East) North side No parking at any time 

Westwood Drive Both sides No parking at any time 
Winterberry Lane West side  No parking at any time 

Zeller Court Both sides No parking at any time 

Zeller Street (East) Both sides between Dubuque Street and Front Street No parking at any time 

Zeller Street (West) Both sides between Front Street and Highway 965/Ranshaw Way No parking at any time 
Zeller Street (West) North side between Highway 965/Ranshaw Way to its west terminus  Parking limited to 6:00 

a.m. to 6:00 p.m. on 
even-numbered days 

 
Zeller Street (West) 

 
South side between Highway 965/Ranshaw Way to its west terminus  

Parking limited to 6:00 
a.m. to 6:00 p.m. on 
odd-numbered days 

 



 

Code of Ordinances 
Amendments   



 

 

 

 







 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 



 



 



 

 



 

 



 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 



 



 

 

 

 

 

 



 

 

 

 

 



 



 

 

 



Ryan Rusnak 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

william gorman <w_gorman@hotmail.com> 
Tuesday, September 17, 2024 12:05 PM 
Ryan Rusnak 
Re: [External) ADUs 

WARNING: This email originated from outside of this organization. Do not click links or 
open attachments unless you know the contents are safe. Never provide your user ID or 

assword to an one. 

Thanks. 

Because of the small size of AD Us, manufactured AD Us will naturally be somewhat boxy, in order to maximize 

the use of the square footage. Some of them are in a rectangular shape. Transferring the roof pitch and 

overhang requirements for a primary residence to an ADU might even be more of a problem for manufactured 

ADUs. That isn't something a homeowner could control, which therefore would eliminate this option for a 

homeowner. Again, we would hope the city would not just "allow" AD Us through code but also "support" and 

"encourage" ADUs. 

We are pleased you don't view what you have seen so far, as outright prohibited. However, we would hope 

you and your staff would view future decisions regarding ADUs in a bit more holistic manner. 

William Gorman 

A good reputation is measured by how much you can improve the lives of others. 

George Eastman 

From: Ryan Rusnak <rrusnak@northlibertyiowa.org> 
Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2024 11:43 AM 
To: w_gorman@hotmail.com <w_gorman@hotmail.com> 
Subject: RE: [External] ADUs 

Oh, sorry. I neglected to answer City Council public hearing 9/24. Meeting begins at 6:00 PM 

•"'1• North .. ~ ~ Liberty 
~~ 'U.LtMcJ~ai. 

RYAN "RUS" RUSNAK 
PLANNING DIRECTOR 

(319) 626-5747 office 

1 



Messages to and from this account are subject to public disclosure unless 
otherwise provided by Jaw. 

From: Ryan Rusnak 
Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2024 11:31 AM 
To: william gorman <w_gorman@hotmail.com> 
Subject: RE : [External] ADUs 

Hi William, 

I'm including your correspondence in the background material. 

I'm putting together a memo to provide answers to some of the items discussed at PZ. Here is a portion I found 
interesting: 
August 2024 housing unit count (for purpose of providing population estimates) was 9,130 units . Of those 9,130 
units, 3,380 or 37% are zoned RS (Single-Unit Residence) District. Of the 9,130 housing units, 1,558 or 17% are 
zoned RD. 

I will say that prefabricated buildings are not an outright prohibition, but a lot of them look like a box, which is 
something we have general design standards to prevent. 

This is existing language in 169.10 

A. Except in the R-MH district, a minimum roof pitch of 5:12 shall apply to gable, hip, or shed roofs 
and there shall be a minimum roof overhang at the eves of 12 inches. This does not apply to 
portions of a roof that are separate from the structure's primary roof. Metal roofs shall not be 
corrugated or similar appearance. The color of the roof shall be visually harmonious and 
compatible with the building color scheme. 

, ;1• North 
·~ ~ Liberty 

RYAN "RUS" RUSNAK 
PLANNING DIRECTOR 

C,...-dLd 61. ~ ftfcif..t!iu. (319) 626-5747 office 

Messages to and from this account are subject to public disclosure unless 
otherwise provided by Jaw. 

From: william gorman <w gorman@hotmail.com> 
Sent: Tuesday, September 17, 2024 11:18 AM 
To: Ryan Rusnak <rrusnak@north li bertyiowa.org> 
Subject: [External] ADUs 

WARNING: This email originated from outside of this organization. Do not click links or 
open attachments unless you know the contents are safe. Never provide your user 10 or 

assword to an one. 

2 



Hi Ryan. I haven't heard back from you. Just wanted your feedback in regard to the examples I sent you 
regarding companies making factory built ADUs- and whether they would or would not be "comparable" to a 
primary residence for detached ADUs. 

Also, will the City Council for the first time take up the ADU zoning code on September 24th? If so, what time 
is the meeting? 

William Gorman 

A good reputation is measured by how much you can improve the lives of others. 
George Eastman 

3 



Ryan Rusnak 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

william gorman <w_gorman@hotmail.com > 
Wednesday, September 4, 2024 9:32 AM 
Josey Bathke; Ryan Rusnak 

Jeff Kellbach; Jessica Andino; John Kalohn; Rachel Carr 
[External] As Promised 

WARNING: This email originated from outside of this organization. Do not click links or 
open attachments unless you know the contents are safe. Never provide your user 10 or 

assword to an one. 

Hi Josey/Ryan 

I very much appreciate the thoughtful discussion last evening regarding ADUs at last night's Planning and 
Zoning Commission meeting. 

As promised, I am providing websites of manufactured/prefab companies that make quality ADUs that can be 
delivered to the building site and placed on a foundation, or easily constructed on the building site. I ask that 
you share this email with all the Planning and Zoning Commission members. 

These are attractive alternatives (and in many cases, affordable) for homeowners, but they could very well not 
be considered "a consistent architectural style as the primary dwellings defined by compatible exterior 

building materials and colors, and architectural elements". I truly respect Ryan's effort to avoid subjective 
decisions by staff (and I agree), but the current draft wording is subjective- the building permit staff or Ryan 
will need to decide if a proposed detached ADU is similar enough to the primary residence. Thus, the reason I 
have provided these websites. If after looking at these ADU examples, if North Liberty staff would consider 
them "consistent", then I will be totally satisfied. I just think it is important to recognize that the current 
wording will lead to subjective decisions. The irony is that having no limitation in this regard, is the bright, 
clear line- which however could lead to a very tacky modified shipping container as an ADU. Thus, I am just 
trying to "test" the concept of "consistent architectural style". 

I guess I am hoping that Ryan and the building permit staff would agree that these types of options would be 
determined to be a consistent architectural style with compatible exterior building materials and colors, and 
architectural elements-and thus be allowed as a detached ADU. If not allowed, then I think some additional 
thought in regard to this matter is warranted . 

www.boxabl.com 

www .kitHAUS.com 

www.connect-house.com 

1 



www.auxbox.ca 

I would appreciate your thoughts and feedback. 

William Gorman 

A good reputation is measured by how much you can improve the lives of others. 
George Eastman 

2 



Ryan Rusnak 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 

william gorman <w_gorman@hotmail.com> 

Wednesday, September 4, 2024 9:53AM 
Josey Bathke; Ryan Rusnak 
Jeff Kellbach; Jessica Andino; Rachel Carr; John Kalohn 
[External) Connect Homes 

WARNING: This email originated from outside of this organization. Do not click links or 
open attachments unless you know the contents are safe. Never provide your user 10 or 

assword to an one. 

Just realized I mistyped the website address for Connect Homes (not Connect House) 

www.connect-homes.com 

William Gorman 

A good reputation is measured by how much you can improve the lives of others. 
George Eastman 

1 



Ryan Rusnak 

From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

william gorman <w_gorman@hotmail.com > 

Thursday, September 5, 2024 1:01 PM 

Ryan Rusnak; Josey Bathke 

Jeff Kellbach; Rachel Carr; Jessica Andino; John Kalohn 

[External] ADUs 

WARNING: This email originated from outside of this organization. Do not click links or 
open attachments unless you know the contents are safe. Never provide your user ID or 

assword to an one. 

Ryan/ Josey 

Here are a few other websites of companies making manufactured/prefab ADUs. There are a lot of 
alternatives and more coming down the line. 

www.roombus.com 

www.zennihome.com 

www.nestron.house 

I want to be clear that we don't want to hold up the process of moving the draft code approved by the 
Planning and Zoning Commission, going to the full Council. I just wanted to make everyone aware that there 
are some quality/cost effective options available for detached ADUs. I just don't want the interpretation of 
the word "comparable" to prevent these ADUs, or similar ones, from being allowable. 

I look forward to your feedback. 

William Gorman 

A good reputation is measured by how much you can improve the lives of others. 
George Eastman 

1 



From: william gorman <w_gorman@hotmail.com> 

Sent: Friday, August 16, 2024 1:27 PM 

To: Ryan Rusnak; Jeff Kellbach; Jessica Andino 

Subject: Re: [External] Zoning Code for ADUs 

 

 

WARNING: This email originated from outside of this organization. Do not click 
links or open attachments unless you know the contents are safe. Never provide 

your user ID or password to anyone.  

 
 

Hi Ryan. I think your stair stepping of the size of the ADU based on the size of the lot is 

reasonable. I would encourage you to limit the architectural requirements to attached 

ADUs, and not detached ADUs. 

 

Look forward to seeing your final draft. 

 

Bill 

 

Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone 

Get Outlook for Android 

 
From: Ryan Rusnak <rrusnak@northlibertyiowa.org> 

Sent: Friday, August 16, 2024 7:22:52 PM 

To: william gorman <w_gorman@hotmail.com>; Jeff Kellbach <jkellbach@johnsoncountyiowa.gov>; 

Jessica Andino <jessica@jcaffordablehousing.org> 

Subject: RE: [External] Zoning Code for ADUs  

  

Oh, and I added this to the parking regulations: 

  

USE MINIMUM REQUIRED VEHICLE SPACES 

Accessory Dwelling Unit None 

  

  

 

  RYAN “RUS” RUSNAK 

    PLANNING DIRECTOR 

    (319) 626-5747 office 
    

 

      
      

  
Messages to and from this account are subject to public disclosure unless 

otherwise provided by law. 
  

  

https://aka.ms/AAb9ysg


From: Ryan Rusnak  

Sent: Friday, August 16, 2024 12:15 PM 

To: william gorman <w_gorman@hotmail.com>; Jeff Kellbach <jkellbach@johnsoncountyiowa.gov>; 

Jessica Andino <jessica@jcaffordablehousing.org> 

Subject: RE: [External] Zoning Code for ADUs 

  

Seeking initial feedback on language. I assume you may wish for us to water down the architectural 

requirement, but I wrote this understanding that was already your concern. 

  

Proposed as a permitted use in our RS and RD Districts. 

  

Please note, this can change as we discuss more internally. I just didn’t want to spring this on you 

too late. I’ll let you know what changes we make. 

  

The size and location for detached mirrors what we already allow for detached garages. 

  

1.              Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU). 

A.            Defined. Accessory Dwelling Unit (ADU) means a self-contained unit that 

provides independent living facilities on the same lot as a primary dwelling. ADUs 

can be attached, detached, or repurposed from existing space within the primary 

dwelling.  

B.            Use Standards. 

(1)           A property shall be limited to one ADU. 

(2)         Either the primary dwelling or the ADU shall be occupied by the owner of 

the property. 

(3)         ADUs shall have a consistent architectural style as the primary dwelling, as 

defined by compatible exterior building materials and colors, and 

architectural elements. 

(4)         Specific regulations for ADUs attached to the primary dwelling. 

(a)         Subject to the setbacks and maximum building height of the 

underlying zoning district. 

(b)         Shall not exceed 50% of the gross floor area of the residence. 

(5)         Specific regulations for ADUs detached from the primary dwelling. 

(a)         A maximum gross floor area of 850 square feet. RS district 

exception: on properties exceeding .5 acres but less than.75 acres, 

the maximum gross floor area shall be 1,000 square feet. On 

properties exceeding .75 acres but less than one acre, the 

maximum gross floor area shall be 1,200 square feet. On properties 

exceeding one acre, the maximum gross floor area shall be 1,400 

square feet. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the gross floor area 

shall not exceed the total footprint of the residence. 

(b)         Shall be located within the rear yard subject to a five foot side and 

rear setback. 

(c)         Must be situated a minimum 20 feet from a public or private right-

of-way or improved alley. 



(d)         Shall not be located within any utility, sewer, drainage, access or 

walkway easement, where such easement is dedicated to the City 

or to public use. 

(e)         No (other) detached accessory buildings greater than 200 square 

feet gross floor in accordance with Section 169.05.  

(f)          A maximum height of 15 feet. 

  

  

 

  RYAN “RUS” RUSNAK 

    PLANNING DIRECTOR 

    (319) 626-5747 office 
    

 

      
      

  
Messages to and from this account are subject to public disclosure unless 

otherwise provided by law. 
  

  

From: william gorman <w_gorman@hotmail.com>  

Sent: Thursday, July 25, 2024 4:44 PM 

To: Jeff Kellbach <jkellbach@johnsoncountyiowa.gov>; Ryan Rusnak <rrusnak@northlibertyiowa.org> 

Cc: Ryan Heiar <rheiar@northlibertyiowa.org>; Jessica Andino <jessica@jcaffordablehousing.org> 

Subject: Re: [External] Zoning Code for ADUs 

  

  

WARNING: This email originated from outside of this organization. Do not click 
links or open attachments unless you know the contents are safe. Never provide 

your user ID or password to anyone.  

 
  

Ryan. That is good to hear. As Jeff indicated, let us know if we can be of help  

  

William 

  

Sent from my Verizon, Samsung Galaxy smartphone 

Get Outlook for Android 

 
From: Jeff Kellbach <jkellbach@johnsoncountyiowa.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, July 25, 2024 3:59:31 PM 

To: Ryan Rusnak <rrusnak@northlibertyiowa.org>; william gorman <w_gorman@hotmail.com> 

Cc: Ryan Heiar <rheiar@northlibertyiowa.org>; Jessica Andino <jessica@jcaffordablehousing.org> 

Subject: Re: [External] Zoning Code for ADUs  

  

Hi Ryan, 

  

Thank you for the update. Please let us know if there is anything we can do to be of 

assistance. 

https://aka.ms/AAb9ysg


  

Thank you, 

  

Jeff Kellbach, Aging Specialist 

Johnson County Social Services 

855 S. Dubuque St. 

Suite 202 B 

Iowa City, IA 52240 

Phone: 319-356-6090 

Direct Office: 319-688-5842 

Fax: 319-688-5711 

www.johnsoncountyiowa.gov 

IMPORTANT:  The information provided in this email message, along with any attachments, may be legally privileged, confidential and 

protected under State and Federal laws. These include, but are not limited to, the Electronic Communications Privacy Act, 18 U.S. CC. 2510-

2521 and the Health Insurance Privacy and Accountability Act - Privacy and Security Rules, 45 CFR Parts 142, 160, and 164. If the reader of this 

email is not the intended recipient, delete the message and its attachments immediately. You are hereby notified that the distribution, 

retention, or copying of this communication and its attachments is strictly prohibited. 

Please note that I will be out of the office August 1st and returning on August 13th. 

  

 
From: Ryan Rusnak <rrusnak@northlibertyiowa.org> 

Sent: Thursday, July 25, 2024 11:47 AM 

To: william gorman <w_gorman@hotmail.com> 

Cc: Ryan Heiar <rheiar@northlibertyiowa.org>; Jeff Kellbach <jkellbach@johnsoncountyiowa.gov>; 

Jessica Andino <jessica@jcaffordablehousing.org> 

Subject: RE: [External] Zoning Code for ADUs  

  

  

 
CAUTION: This email originated from outside of Johnson County! Do not click links, open 

attachments or reply, unless you recognize the sender's email address and know the 

content is safe! 



Hi William, 

  

I will be working on an Ordinance to include ADUs in the Zoning Code. My plan is to have this one 

the 9/3 Planning Commission agenda. 

  

Stay tuned! 

  

 

  RYAN “RUS” RUSNAK 

    PLANNING DIRECTOR 

    (319) 626-5747 office 
    

 

      
      

  
Messages to and from this account are subject to public disclosure unless 

otherwise provided by law. 
  

  

From: william gorman <w_gorman@hotmail.com>  

Sent: Tuesday, July 16, 2024 8:39 AM 

To: Ryan Heiar <rheiar@northlibertyiowa.org>; Ryan Rusnak <rrusnak@northlibertyiowa.org> 

Cc: Jeff Kellbach <jkellbach@johnsoncountyiowa.gov>; Jessica Andino 

<jessica@jcaffordablehousing.org> 

Subject: [External] Zoning Code for ADUs 

  

  

WARNING: This email originated from outside of this organization. Do not click 
links or open attachments unless you know the contents are safe. Never provide 

your user ID or password to anyone.  

 
  

Hello Ryan and Ryan. Just checking in to see if you have initiated any movement to draft zoning 

code for Accessory Dwelling Units, for North Liberty? Can you provide us with a status update? 

  

William Gorman 

Chair, Housing Action Team 

Johnson County Livable Community for Successful Aging Policy Board 

  

A good reputation is measured by how much you can improve the lives of others. 

George Eastman 

  



ATTACHED ADU SECOND-STORY ADU

BASEMENT ADU

The ABCs of ADUs 
A guide to 

Accessory Dwelling Units  
and how they expand housing options 

for people of all ages

GARAGE-CONVERSION ADU

DETACHED ADU

AARP.org/ADUs

http://AARP.org/ADUs


Orange Splot LLC is a development, general contracting and 
consulting company with a mission to pioneer new models of 
community-oriented, affordable green housing developments. 
Orange Splot projects have been featured in the New York 
Times, Sunset magazine and on NBC’s Today show. (The 
detached ADUs on page 3 and the back cover are by Orange 
Splot.) Company founder Eli Spevak has managed the 
financing and construction of more than 300 units of 
affordable housing, was awarded a Loeb Fellowship by the 
Harvard University Graduate School of Design, cofounded the 
website AccessoryDwellings.org and serves as chair of 
Portland, Oregon’s Planning and Sustainability Commission.

AARP is the nation’s largest nonprofit, nonpartisan 
organization dedicated to empowering people 50 or older to 
choose how they live as they age. With nearly 38 million 
members and offices in every state, the District of Columbia, 
Puerto Rico and the U.S. Virgin Islands, AARP strengthens 
communities and advocates for what matters most to families: 
health security, financial stability and personal fulfillment. The 
AARP Livable Communities initiative works nationwide to 
support the efforts by neighborhoods, towns, cities, counties, 
rural areas and entire states to be livable for people of all ages.

Websites: AARP.org and AARP.org/Livable 
Email: Livable@AARP.org
Facebook: /AARPLivableCommunities
Twitter: @AARPLivable
Free Newsletter: AARP.org/LivableSubscribe

Website: OrangeSplot.net 
Email: eli@OrangeSplot.net

Copyright ©AARP 2021, 2nd edition (1st edition published in 2019)  | AARP is a registered trademark. | All rights reserved. No part of this publication 
may be reproduced in any form or by any means without the prior written permission of AARP, except brief quotations in connection with reviews 
written specifically for inclusion in magazines, newspapers or websites, or limited excerpts strictly for personal use.

AARP and Accessory Dwelling Units 
Visit AARP.org/ADU to order or download our free publications and find more resources about ADUs.

ATTACHED ADU SECOND-STORY ADU

BASEMENT ADU

The ABCs of ADUs 
A guide to 

Accessory Dwelling Units  
and how they expand housing options 

for people of all ages

GARAGE-CONVERSION ADU

DETACHED ADU

AARP.org/ADUs

AARP’s ADU Publications  
(from left): This introductory 
guide; guidance about creating an 
ADU model state act or local 
ordinance; a detailed guide to 
design and development.

An ADU Design Catalog with a summary of ADU policies in Austin, TX; Denver, CO; 
Oakland, CA and the District of Columbia.

Accessory Dwelling Units
A Step by Step Guide to Design and Development

 Accessory 
Dwelling 
Units
Model State Act and 
Local Ordinance

CREATED FOR STATE AND LOCAL LEADERS BY 
AARP Government Affairs

DETACHED ATTACHED INTERIOR (UPPER LEVEL)

INTERIOR (LOWER LEVEL) GARAGE CONVERSIONABOVE GARAGE

http://AccessoryDwellings.org
http://AARP.org
http://AARP.org/Livable
mailto:Livable%40AARP.org?subject=
https://www.facebook.com/AARPLivableCommunities
https://twitter.com/AARPLivable?lang=en
http://AARP.org/Livable-Subscribe
http://OrangeSplot.net
mailto:eli%40orangesplot.net?subject=
http://AARP.org/ADU


 The ABCs of ADUs |  A A R P  1

Welcome! Come On In
Accessory dwelling units are a needed housing option for people of all ages

We know from surveys by AARP and others that a 
majority of Americans prefer to live in walkable 
neighborhoods that offer a mix of housing and 
transportation options and are close to jobs, schools, 
shopping, entertainment and parks. 

These preferences — coupled with the rapid aging  
of the United States’ population overall, the decrease  
in households with children and the national housing 
shortage — will continue to boost the demand for 
smaller homes and affordable, quality rental housing.

As small houses or apartments that exist on the 
same property lot as a single-family residence, 
accessory dwelling units — or ADUs — play a 
major role in serving a national housing need. 

This traditional home type is reemerging as an 
affordable and flexible housing option that meets the 
needs of older adults and young families alike. 

p Accessory dwelling units (or ADUs) come in many shapes and styles.

The ABCs of ADUs is a primer for elected officials, policymakers, local leaders, homeowners, 
consumers and others to learn what accessory dwelling units are and how and why they are built. 
The guide also suggests best practices for how towns, cities, counties and states can support the 
creation of ADUs as a way to expand and diversify housing options.

INTERIOR (UPPER LEVEL)DETACHED ATTACHED

INTERIOR (LOWER LEVEL) ABOVE GARAGE GARAGE CONVERSION

In fact, in the 2021 AARP Home and Community 
Preferences Survey, adults age 18 or older who would 
consider creating an ADU said they’d do so in order to:

• provide a home for a loved one in need of care (86%)

• provide housing for relatives or friends (86%)

• have a space for guests (82%)

• create a place for a caregiver to stay (74%)

• increase the value of their home (69%)

• feel safer by having someone living nearby (67%)

• earn extra income from renting to a tenant (63%)

Since ADUs make use of the existing infrastructure and 
housing stock, they’re also environmentally friendly and 
respectful of a neighborhood’s pace and style. An 
increasing number of towns, cities, counties and entire 
states have been adapting their zoning or housing laws to 
make it easier for homeowners to create ADUs. n



2 A A R P  |  The ABCs of ADUs

What ADUs Are —  
And What They Can Do
ADUs are a family-friendly, community-creating type of housing the nation needs more of

Although most local governments, zoning codes and planners in the United 
States use the term accessory dwelling unit or ADU, these small homes and 
apartments are known by dozens of other names. The different terms conjure 

up different images. (Who 
wouldn’t rather live in a 
“carriage house” than in an 
accessory or “ancillary” unit?) 
Even if you’ve never heard 
of accessory dwelling units 
or ADUs, you have likely 
heard of — and perhaps 
know the locations of — 
some of the home types 
noted in the list at right. n

• accessory apartment
• backyard bungalow 
• basement apartment
• casita
• carriage house
• coach house
• English basement
• garage apartment
• granny flat
• guest cottage
• guest house
• in-law suite
• laneway house
• multi-generational house
• ohana unit 
• secondary dwelling unit

p Accessory dwelling units 
show up in neighborhoods 
throughout the country — 
and even in pop culture. One 
example: In the sitcom 
Happy Days, Fonzie (right) 
rents an above-garage  
ADU from the Cunningham 
family in 1950s-era 
Milwaukee, Wisconsin. 

ADUs Are Also Known As …

CREATIVE CO
M

M
O

N
S

• An ADU is a small residence that shares a single-family lot with a larger, primary dwelling

• As an independent living space, an ADU is self-contained, with its own kitchen or 
kitchenette, bathroom and sleeping area

• An ADU can be located within, attached to or detached from the main residence

• An ADU can be converted from an existing structure (such as a garage) or built anew

• ADUs are found in cities, in suburbs and in rural areas, yet are often invisible from view 
because they’re positioned behind or are tucked within a larger home

• Because ADUs are built on single-family lots as a secondary dwelling, they typically cannot 
be partitioned off to be sold separately 

• An ADU can enable family members (including family caregivers) to reside on the same 
property while having their own living spaces 

• An ADU can provide housing for a hired caregiver

• An ADU can provide rental income to homeowners 

• ADUs are a practical option for tenants seeking small, affordably priced rental housing

• For homeowners looking to downsize, an ADU can be a more appealing option than 
moving into an apartment or, if they’re older, an age-restricted community

•  ADUs can help older residents remain independent and “age in place”

•  As an adaptable form of housing, ADUs provide flexible solutions for changing needs. n

p Renting out this 350-square-foot garage-conversion ADU in Portland, Oregon, helps the 
property owner, who lives in the lot’s primary residence, pay her home mortgage. 

Although many people have never heard the term, accessory dwelling units have been around for centuries  
(see page 6) and are identified by many different names. To be clear about what’s being discussed: 

PH
O

TO
 AN

D
 LIST FRO

M
 ACCESSO

RYDW
ELLIN

G
S.O

RG

http://AccessoryDwellings.org


 The ABCs of ADUs |  A A R P  3

t A DETACHED ADU 
(aka DADU) is a 
stand-alone home on 
the same lot as a larger, 
primary dwelling. 
Examples include 
backyard bungalows 
and converted 
outbuildings.

Location: Portland, Oregon  
Photo by David Todd

p A LOWER-LEVEL ADU is typically created 
through the conversion of a home’s existing 
basement (provided that height and safety 
conditions can be met) during construction of 
the house or (above and on page 7) as part of a 
foundation replacement and house lift.

Location: Portland, Oregon | Photo by Chris Nascimento

u Access to an  
UPPER-LEVEL ADU  
can be provided through 
a stairway inside the 
main home or directly 
from an exterior staircase. 
This 500-square-foot 
ADU is part of a 
1,900-square-foot 
primary dwelling. 
 

Location: Portland, Oregon  
Photo by Eli Spevak,  
Orange Splot LLC

p An ATTACHED ADU connects to 
an existing house, typically through the 
construction of an addition along the 
home’s side or rear. Such units can 
have a separate or shared entrance. In 
this example, the owners built a 
connection between the house and 
what was a detached garage. The 
addition and the space above the 
garage contain the ADU, which has its 
own entrance (pictured at right).

Location: Anne Arundel County, Maryland   
Photo by Melissa Stanton, AARP

Since ADUs are custom 
designed and created, 
they’re able to fit 
discreetly into all sorts of 
locations, including 
suburban subdivisions, 
walkable towns, urban 
neighborhoods — and,  
of course, large lots and 
rural regions. 

p A GARAGE ADU converts all or part of an 
attached or detached garage into a residence. 
Other options: adding an ADU above a garage or 
building a new unit for both people and cars. 

Location: Cape May, New Jersey  
Photo by Melissa Stanton, AARP

ADUs Come in Many Shapes and Styles



4 A A R P  |  The ABCs of ADUs

ADUs Are Good for People and Places
Communities that understand the benefits of ADUs allow homeowners to create them

ADUs are an economical 
housing option

• ADUs can generate rental 
income to help homeowners 
cover mortgage payments or 
simply make ends meet. The 
income provided by an ADU 
tenant can be especially 
important for older people on 
fixed incomes. 

• Since the land on which an ADU 
is built already belongs to the 
homeowner, the expense to 
build a secondary residence is 
for the new structure only. 

 • Many ADUs are created for 
family members or friends to 
reside in for free or at a 
discounted rate. In fact, when a 
loved one is in need of care or 
can’t live alone, an ADU can be 
a viable alternative to a costly 
assisted-living facility. 

 • Although market rate rents for 
ADUs tend to be slightly more 
than for similarly sized 
apartments, they often 
represent the only affordable 
rental choices in single-family 
neighborhoods, which typically 
contain few or no small or 
rental housing options at all. 

• The state of California and 
some municipalities are 
boosting ADUs by providing 
grants and other incentives as 
part of affordable housing and 
anti-displacement strategies to 
help lower-income households 
build ADUs or reside in them at 
reliable rents.

 

ADUs are community-
compatible

• ADUs offer a way to include 
smaller, relatively affordable 
homes in established 
neighborhoods with minimal 
visual impact and without 
adding to an area’s sprawl. 

• ADUs provide a more dispersed 
and incremental way of adding 
homes to a community than 
other options, such as 
multistory apartment buildings. 

• ADUs are typically managed by 
homeowners who live on the 
premises. Such landlords are 
less likely to tolerate a 
destructive tenant.

ADUs are good for the 
environment 

• ADUs require fewer resources 
to build and maintain than 
full-sized homes. 

• ADUs use significantly less 
energy for heating and cooling. 
(Of all the ADU types, internal 
ones tend to have the lowest 
building and operating costs.) 

ADUs are just the right size

• Generally measuring between 
600 and 1,000 square feet, 
ADUs work well for the one- 
and two-bedroom homes 
needed by today’s smaller, 
childless households, which 
now account for nearly two-
thirds of all households in the 
United States. 

ADUs are able to house  
people of all ages

• ADUs offer young people 
entry-level housing choices. 

• ADUs enable families to expand 
beyond their primary home. 

• ADUs provide empty nesters 
and others with the option of 
moving into a smaller space 
while renting out their larger 
house or letting an adult child 
and his or her family reside in it. 

• An ADU’s use can be adapted 
for different household types, 
income levels, employment 
situations and stages of life. n SO

U
RCE: N

ATIO
N

AL ASSO
CIATIO

N
 O

F H
O

M
E BU

ILD
ERS, U.S. CEN

SU
S BU

REAU

FACT: ADUs house more people per square foot of living area than single-family homes do.

Big houses are being built, small houses are needed

Do we really need 
more than three 
times as much 
living space per 
person as we did 
in 1950? Can we 
afford to buy or 
rent, heat, cool 
and care for such 
large homes?

YEAR 1950 2020
Median square footage 

 of new  
single-family homes

983 2,261

Number of people  
per household 3.8 2.5

Square feet of living 
space per person 292 904



 The ABCs of ADUs |  A A R P  5

HOME VISIT #1

Attached ADU Addition
Santa Cruz, California
Size: 500 square feet

p The area with the darker roof shingles is the ADU that was 
added onto the home of Carrie and Sterling Whitley. 

t q The Whitleys’ ADU (that’s Carrie showing off the front 
yard’s new paths and plantings) has its own entrance on the 
side of the home and is being rented to the couple’s daughter 
so she can help her elderly parents when needed.

When Carrie and Sterling Whitley bought their house in 1971, they paid 
less than $15,000. Nearly 50 years later, similar homes on their street 
have sold for more than $1 million. 

THE PROBLEM: The Whitleys, who are in their 80s, own the house 
outright and don’t want to move. But the financial and physical demands 
involved in maintaining the house are a challenge.

A SOLUTION: To help low-income homeowners age 62 or older live 
independently and keep their homes, the Monterey Bay affiliate of 
Habitat for Humanity and the City of Santa Cruz launched My House My 
Home: A Partnership for Aging-in-Place. The pilot program builds 
accessory dwelling units so older homeowners can downsize into a new, 
aging-friendlier home and earn rental income from their original house. 
Or such homeowners can remain in their house and rent out the new, 
smaller residence. Participating homeowners are required to charge an 
affordable rental rate.

REALITY CHECK: When the Whitleys’ project broke ground in April 
2017, they were the first homeowners to receive an ADU through the 
program, which worked with them to design the ADU as an addition to 
their existing home. Since the dwelling was built with accessibility 
features, Carrie and Sterling know they can downsize into it if they ever 
need to. Until then, their daughter, Brenda, resides in the addition. 

REAL LIFE: “I’m right next door to my parents in case they need me or 
need any help,” Brenda says.

Design: Historic Sheds | Builder: Historic Sheds | Cost to build: $158,000 in 2017 (not including 
volunteer labor) | Photos by Michael Daniel | Article adapted from Where We Live: Communities 
for All Ages (AARP 2018)

ADU ADVICE: With an attached 
ADU, privacy between the two 
residences can be achieved by 
locating the ADU bedroom(s) 
and bathroom(s) as far as possible 
from the main house. Providing 
the ADU with its own yard or 
outdoor space is helpful too. 

A
AR

P



q This carriage house containing a one-bedroom, one-bath 
ADU above a two-car garage sits behind a six-level, Gilded Age, 
Hoboken, New Jersey, townhome that was built in 1883. The 
dual residence property was on the market in 2018 for $5 million.

ADUs Are an American Tradition
While today’s interest in ADUs may be new, the housing type is centuries old

Early settlers often built a small home to live in while 
constructing their larger, primary house nearby. 

When farming was a source of survival for most of the 
nation’s households, families routinely constructed 
additional homes on their land when needed. 

People with wealth and acreage regularly populated 
their lands with secondary mansions and ancillary 
buildings independent of the main estate house. 

In fact, until the 20th century, people who owned land 
built as many homes as they wished, often for 
extended family or workers. There were few or no 
zoning rules, municipal services or infrastructure 
needs (utilities, roads, schools, trash collection, 
first-responders) to consider. 

A historic precedent for the modern day accessory 
dwelling unit is the “carriage house,” or “coach 
house.” Originally built for horse-drawn carriages, the 
structures associated with grander homes were 
frequently large enough to double as living quarters 
for workers such as stable hands. 

Decades later, in response to housing shortages and 
economic needs, many surviving carriage houses were 

converted into rental homes. By becoming landlords, 
the owners gained income from their often unused 
outbuildings. 

Automobile garages have a similar history. Some were 
originally built with a housing unit upstairs. Over time, 
many garages were converted (often illegally or under 
zoning codes no longer applicable today) into small 
homes when the spaces became more valuable for 
housing people than vehicles. 

With the rise of suburban single-family home 
developments following World War II, ADUs 
practically ceased to be built legally in the United 
States. Then as now, residential zoning codes typically 
allowed only one home per lot, regardless of the 
acreage and with no exceptions. Attached and 
detached garages occupied yard space that might 
otherwise have been available for ADUs. 

Some cities, including Chicago, grandfathered in 
pre-existing “coach house” ADUs — but only if they 
remained consistently occupied. In Houston’s historic 
and trendy Heights neighborhood, old and new 
garage apartments are common and desired. 

Many communities don’t allow new ADUs, even if they 
did in the past. Even in rural areas with ample land, 
property owners are often prohibited from creating 
secondary dwellings or continuing to live in preexisting 
ones. Countless units in single-family homes or yards 
are technically illegal simply because they date from 
when such units were not allowed.

ADUs began making a comeback in the 1980s as cities 
explored ways to support smaller and more affordable 
housing options within single-dwelling neighborhoods. 
In 2000, in response to a growing demand for ADU-
supportive guidelines, AARP and the American 
Planning Association partnered to release a model 
state act and local code for ADUs. An updated 
resource was published by AARP in 2021. (See an 
image of it on the inside front cover of this guide.)

Many state and local governments are legalizing and 
encouraging the creation of ADUs (see page 8), 
driven by high housing costs and, in some cases, the 
belief that homeowners with suitable space shouldn’t 
be so restricted in the use of their property. n

PH
O

TO
:  M

IM
I PARK, D

ESIG
N

 PARK, IN
C.



 The ABCs of ADUs |  A A R P  7

“I see our ADU as something very similar to a student loan,” says 
Mara Owen. “It’s something you invest in the future with. It was 
cheaper than buying a house for Mom, and it lets her have 
independence. It’s great knowing we can check in on her whenever.” 

AH-HA MOMENT: Owen, her partner, Andrew, and their three 
dogs were sharing a one-bedroom, one-bath house with her 
mother, Diane. When Owen learned that ADUs were allowed in 
the city, she decided the best way to get more space for her 
small home’s many residents would be to remove their “leaky and 
defunct” garage and build a new two-car garage with an 
apartment above it. 

WISE ADVICE: “Get a really great builder and architect,” says 
Owen. “Interviewing architects was similar to a first date. It’s not 
just who you feel connected with. That’s important, but get to 
the values. It’s a niche market, so see if you can find someone 
who has built ADUs before, because ADUs are a little different.” 

FUTURE PLANS: The stairs to Diane’s apartment are wide 
enough for a stair lift, if it’s ever needed. The roof was built at 
the correct slope for the eventual installation of solar panels. 

Design: Hive Architecture | Builder: Hive Architecture | Cost to build: $167,000 in  
2016 | Photo by Mara Owen | Article adapted from “ADU Case Studies” by Lina Menard  
on AccessoryDwellings.org. Visit the website to read about and see photographs of  
more ADU projects.

The transformation of this colorful 
Victorian was both a preservation and 
expansion project.

TEACHING MOMENT: “Here’s a very 
welcome breath of fresh air, especially in 
the face of so much gentrification that is 
going on in Portland!” declared Mark 
Lakeman, principal of Communitecture, an 
architectural, planning and design firm, 
about the pictured remodel. Writing on 
his company’s website, he says the project provides a 
lesson in how to “adapt and reuse our precious 
historic houses so they can accommodate more 
people while also providing more income to support 
the existing home.”

HOW’D THEY DO IT? To add a basement rental 
unit, engineers lifted the house. The resulting ADU is 
roughly four feet underground and four feet above. 

THE ACHIEVEMENT: Adds Lakeman: “Unlike the 
seemingly pervasive method of simply tearing down 
existing buildings so that new, giant ones can be built, 
this approach achieves upgrades in energy efficient 
living places and adds density while retaining the 
continuity of our beloved historical urban environment.”
Design: Communitecture | Home Lift: Emmert International
Builder: Tom Champion | Cost to build: $125,000 in 2015 | Photos by 
Communitecture (before) and Chris Nascimento (after)

HOME VISIT #2

Garage Apartment ADU
Denver, Colorado
Size: 360 square feet

HOME VISIT #3

Basement ADU
Portland, Oregon
Size: 796 square feet

p The apartment above the garage can be 
reached from inside the garage or from an 
exterior side entrance accessed from the yard it 
shares with the primary residence.

p By lifting the house and digging beneath it, designers, engineers and 
builders turned a two-story, single-family home into a three-story, 
multifamily residence. (The ADU’s entrance is pictured on page 3.)

http://AccessoryDwellings.org


8 A A R P  |  The ABCs of ADUs

The Time Is Now
Rules for ADUs continue to evolve and frequently differ from one town to the next

Some communities allow almost any home to be set 
up with an ADU — so long as size limits, property 
line setbacks and placement caveats in relation to 
the primary dwelling are met. Others start with 
those basic standards and then layer on extra 
requirements that can make it challenging to create 
an ADU. (Learn more on pages 14 and 15.)

Municipalities nationwide have been relaxing their 
restrictions against ADUs, and several states now 
require communities to allow them. Some examples:

• New Hampshire and Vermont allow ADUs nearly 
everywhere single-family housing is permitted. 
New Hampshire’s 2017 legislation stemmed in 
large part from the frustration of builders who 
couldn’t construct the backyard cottages and 
garage apartments their clients desired.

• In 2020, the California legislature declared that 
“allowing accessory dwelling units in zones that 
allow single-family and multifamily uses provides 
additional rental housing, and is an essential 
component in addressing California’s housing 
needs.” The state allows up to one ADU and one 
JADU per lot. (What’s a JADU? See page 14.)

•   Oregon requires cities and counties of certain 
sizes to allow ADUs in all single-family areas within 
urban growth boundaries. In 2021, the state 
extended ADU rights to rural residential areas.

• Other states allowing ADUs include Connecticut, 
Rhode Island and Utah. Many cities now allow 
ADUs, including Anchorage, Alaska; Atlanta, 
Georgia; Annapolis, Maryland; Asheville, North 
Carolina; Austin, Texas; Denver, Colorado; 
Honolulu, Hawaii; Houston, Texas; Louisville, 
Kentucky; Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; Phoenix 
and Tucson, Arizona; Seattle, Washington; and 
Washington, D.C.n

To Encourage ADUs
LOCAL OFFICIALS can …
• allow all ADU types (detached, attached, interior)
• simplify the building permit process for ADUs
• waive or reduce permit and impact fees
• establish funding programs to help homeowners 

create ADUs
• let garages be converted into ADUs without 

requiring replacement off-street parking 
• allow for the creation of a second ADU, subject  

to a combined size cap 

COMMUNITY PLANNERS can …
• adopt simple, flexible but nondiscretionary ADU 

rules about setbacks, square footage and design 
compatibility with the primary dwelling

LENDERS can …
• work with homeowners to finance the construction 

of ADUs by using renovation loans

ADVOCATES can …
• organize tours of completed ADUs in order to 

inform and inspire the community 
• educate homeowners, real estate agents, 

architects and builders about local zoning 
regulations and the permit process 

REAL ESTATE AGENTS can …
• educate themselves and their clients about rules 

for the construction of ADUs

LOCAL MEDIA can …
• report on how and why homeowners build ADUs

PH
O

TO
: SARAH

 D
ALE FO

R A
ARP

u Located on the lowest floor of a town house, an 
English basement is a partially belowground apartment 
that has its own exterior entrance. They are typically 
found in older cities such as New York or (pictured) 
Washington, D.C. In the past, property owners used the 
space as servant quarters. Today, these essentially 
built-in ADUs are often used as rental apartments. 



 The ABCs of ADUs |  A A R P  9

HOME VISIT #4

Internal ADU (Main Level)
Portland, Oregon
Size: 220 square feet

Even small homes can have enough space for an 
ADU. An underused main floor bedroom in this 
1.5-story, 1,500-square-foot bungalow was 
transformed into a studio apartment.

AH-HA MOMENT: According to Joan Grimm, 
who owns the home with Rita Haberman: “What 
we were looking for in terms of a community  
and aging in place was right under our noses.
Remove a fence and create a shared open space. 
Build a wall and create a second dwelling unit. It 
doesn’t have to be complicated.”

REAL LIFE: “Creatively carving out an ADU from 
the main floor of our house saved on design and 
construction costs,” Grimm adds. “It provides an 
opportunity for rental income, with no significant 
compromise to the livability of our home.” 

p The steps and side entrance lead to the studio apartment ADU, 
which was crafted out of an existing space. The covered porch to 
the right leads to the primary residence. The ADU contains a 
kitchen, small dining and living area, sleeping area, bathroom and 
laundry area.  (See two interior photos on pages 19 and 20.)

HOME VISIT #5

Internal ADU (Lower Level)
Portland, Oregon
Size: 795 square feet

“We were looking for a way to live in our house for 
the rest of our lives and to generate at least some 
income in the process,” Robert Mercer and Jim Heuer 
wrote for the program guide of the annual Portland 
ADU Tour when their home was part of the lineup. 
“An ADU offers the possibility of caregiver lodging in 
the future or even a place for us to live while we rent 
out the main house if we get to the point where we 
can’t handle the stairs any longer.”

THE SOUND OF SILENCE: Internal ADUs often 
require that soundproofing insulation be installed 
between the primary dwelling and the accessory unit 
that’s below, above or beside it. In Portland, the 
building code for duplex residences requires a sound 
insulation rating of at least STCC45. To property 
owners thinking about a similar ADU setup, the duo 
advise: “Think about how you live in your home and 
how having downstairs neighbors will change what 

you can and can’t do with your space and what 
investment you are prepared to make in sound 
insulation.”

AN ADDED BONUS: “We are pleased that we have 
been able to provide more housing density on our 
property and still be in keeping with the historic 
character of our home.”

q The door to the right of the garage leads to a ground-floor 
ADU with windows along the back and side walls. The 
upper-level windows are part of the main residence. 

Design: DMS Architects | Builder: Weitzer Company | Cost to build: $261,000 in 2016 | Photo by Melissa Stanton, AARP  
Article adapted from the 2017 ADU Tour project profiles on AccessoryDwellings.org

Design: Rita Haberman | Builder: RS Wallace Construction 
Cost to build: $55,000 in 2015 (with some work done by the homeowners)
Photos courtesy Billy Ulmer | Article adapted from “ADU Case Studies” by 
Lina Menard on AccessoryDwellings.org

http://AccessoryDwellings.org
http://AccessoryDwellings.org


10 A A R P  |  The ABCs of ADUs

Bringing Back ADUs
The reasons for creating or living in an ADU are as varied as the potential uses

ADUs are flexible. Over time, a single ADU might be used 
in many ways as an owner’s needs and life circumstances 
change. Following are just a few reasons why ADUs are 
created and by whom: 

EMPTY NESTERS can build an ADU and move into it, 
then rent out the main house for supplemental income or 
make it available to their adult children. 

FAMILIES WITH YOUNG CHILDREN can use an ADU 
as housing for a nanny or au pair or even a grandparent 
or two, who can then help raise their grandkids and be 
assisted themselves as they age. 

INDIVIDUALS IN NEED OF CARE can reside in an ADU 
to be near family members, or they can use the ADU to 
house a live-in aide. (In fact, ADUs can be an affordable 
and more comforting alternative to an assisted-living 
facility or nursing home.) 

HOME BUYERS can look forward to the rental income 
from an ADU to help pay their mortgage or finance home 
improvements, especially in expensive housing markets. 

HOME-BASED WORKERS can use an ADU as their 
office or workshop.

HOMEOWNERS can use an ADU for guests or as 
housing for friends or loved ones who: 
• aren’t yet financially independent, such as new high 

school or college graduates
• need temporary housing due to an emergency or while 

renovating their own home 
• have disabilities but can live independently if family 

reside nearby n

Planning and Paying for ADUs
Most new homes are built by developers, 
entire subdivisions at a time. Apartments 
are also built by pros. 

But ADUs are different. 

Although ADUs are occasionally designed 
into new residential developments, the vast 
majority are created by individual 
homeowners after they move in. In other 
words, ADUs are usually created by 
enthusiastic and motivated amateurs. 

An ADU may present the ultimate chance for 
a do-it-yourselfer to build his or her small 
dream home. More often, homeowners 
bring in a combination of architects, 
designers and construction contractors to 
do the work, much as they would for a home 
addition or major kitchen remodeling. The 
local municipality’s planning department 
can provide guidance on the rules for ADUs 
and information about what permits, utility 
connections and fees are involved. 

ADUs aren’t cheap, and they are often the 
most significant home improvement project 
a homeowner will undertake. 

Although internal ADUs can sometimes be 
built for about $50,000, new detached ADUs 
often exceed $150,000. Most ADUs are 
financed through some combination of 
savings, second mortgages, home equity 
lines of credit and/or funds from family 
members (sometimes a relative who ends 
up living in it). 

In some areas, the cost of building an ADU 
can be recouped after a few years of renting 
it. If that’s the plan, it’s worth estimating the 
expenses versus the potential income 
before undertaking an ADU project. 

A few cities, nonprofits and start-ups are 
experimenting with creative financing 
options that could put ADUs within reach 
for more homeowners and their families, as 
well as prospective renters. 

p The zoning code in Evanston, Illinois, permits accessory 
dwelling units, creating an opportunity for the owners of this 
1911 home with an outbuilding in the backyard.

PH
O

TO
: ELI SPEVAK, O

RAN
G

E SPLO
T LLC



W/D

D
W

SCREEN
PORCH

BEDROOM BATHROOM

LIVINGLIBRARY
NICHE

KITCHEN/
DINING

PRIVACY WALL -
DISCUSS W/ OWNER

DN

DN
DN

DN

SHOWER HEAD
ABOVE

4'
 - 

3 
1/

2"

SHOWER
CONTROLS

SD-3.2

4

SD-3.2

1

SD-3.25

OPTIONAL EXTERIOR
STORAGE - DISCUSS
W/ OWNER

LINE OF ROOF ABOVE -
EXTENDED OVERHANG
FOR COVERED DRIVER
SIDE

EXISTING
WALL

30" SINK AND BASE
CABINET - CONFIRM
WITH OWNER

13
' -

 1
1"

14' - 8 1/4"
FAUX WINDOW W/
LOUVER  INFILL
SHUTTER

7'
 - 

5 
1/

2"
14

' -
 3

"

HINGED BUILT-IN
TO REVEAL W/D
BEYOND

SD-3.1

1

SD-3.12

SD-3.1

3

UNDERCOUNTER
FRIDGE

OFFICE/
GAMEROOM

POWDER
ROOM

DN

NEW STAIR

RELOCATED
DESK

COVERED WALKWAY
BELOW

READING NOOK

STORAGE
ACCESS

SINK

RELOCATED
CARD TABLE

BOOK SHELF

POTENTIAL
WINDOW - DISCUSS
W/ OWNER

19' - 10 1/4"

15
' -

 1
0"

STORAGE ACCESS

SHADED AREA
INDICATES ROOF
STRUCTURE CUT
@ 3'-0" ABOVE FF

BOOK SHELF

1359 La France St,  Unit A Atlanta, GA 30307             tel   404/653/0553           fax  404/653/0025

711 PONCE de LEON AVENUE

8/29/2013
SD-2.1

SD-2.1

2

 1/8" = 1'-0"SD-2.1

1 SECOND FLOOR PLAN - GARAGE ADDITION

 The ABCs of ADUs |  A A R P  11

When Walt Drake decided to downsize, his son Scott 
purchased his dad’s house for himself and his family and 
built a detached ADU (or DADU) for Walt. 

“From not finding what we wanted for Dad, we decided 
to create it,” says Scott. “Neighborhoods built in the 
1920s have carriage houses. Building an ADU was a 
modern day version of something people have been 
doing on their property in this area for a hundred years.” 

NEAR AND FAR: “We wanted the houses to be 
separate and to feel like we’re each on our own 
property, but we’re there for each other,” says Scott.

AGING-FRIENDLY: Building the ADU meant Walt 
didn’t have to leave his home and neighborhood. “He 
was able to keep his own stuff and turn over what he 
didn’t need to us,” says Scott. “It kept my dad in place, 
which I think was important.” 

FUTURE PLANS: Scott says the ADU is “serving its 
intended purpose” but that someday down the road it 
could be used as a long- or short-term rental. “The ADU 
could turn into lots of different things over the course 
of its lifetime.”

p Walt Drake’s southern-style, one-bedroom ADU has an 
outdoor, wraparound porch that can be accessed without 
using steps. The design is in keeping with other buildings in 
the neighborhood.

HOME VISIT #6

Detached ADU (One-Story)
Decatur, Georgia
Size: 800 square feet

Design: Adam Wall, Kronberg Wall | Builder: Rob Morrell | Cost to build: 
$350,000 in 2014 | Photo by Fredrik Brauer | Floor plan by Kronberg Wall 
Architects | Article adapted from “ADU Case Studies” by Lina Menard on 
AccessoryDwellings.org

http://AccessoryDwellings.org


12 A A R P  |  The ABCs of ADUs

ADUs Are Age-Friendly Housing
New-construction ADUs can be created with “universal design” features

p There’s a powder 
room, open kitchen and 
living room on the first 
floor, with a bedroom 
and bathroom upstairs. 

t Although Brom’s 
property is only 0.13 
acres, it’s large enough 
to accommodate two 
homes, a patio, a lawn 
and a garage. A slatted 
wood fence with a gate 
divides the space 
between the two houses 
and provides privacy. 

Design: Chrystine Kim, NEST Architecture & Design | Builder: Ian Jones, Treebird Construction | Photo by Alex Hayden  
Cost to build: $250,000 in 2014 | Article adapted from Where We Live: Communities for All Ages (AARP 2018)

HOME VISIT #7

Detached ADU (Two-Story)
Seattle, Washington
Size: 800 square feet

Evelyn Brom’s plan was to build a backyard cottage 
and rent it out. She would keep living in her two-
bedroom home. 

AH-HA MOMENT: As the design developed, Brom 
realized that she wanted to live in the stunning 
wood-and-glass ADU. It was a good decision. A week 
before moving in, Brom was laid off from her job. 

REAL LIFE: The $3,000 a month Brom receives in 
rent for the main house (which is occupied by a 
three-generation family) provides a needed income. 
“Being laid off has made this arrangement a 
lifesaver,” Brom says. If the stairs in the cottage 
ever become too hard to navigate, she can move 
back into her original one-story house and rent out 
the cottage instead. “Now I have options,” she says.

An “age-friendly” home has a zero-step entrance and includes doorways, hallways and bathrooms that are 
accessible for people with mobility differences. Converted garages (such as the one pictured on page 2) are 
among the easiest and least expensive ADU solutions for aging in place since they’re preexisting structures and 
generally have no-step entries. To learn more about making a home aging-friendly, download or order the  
AARP HomeFit Guide at AARP.org/HomeFit.

http://AARP.org/HomeFit


 The ABCs of ADUs |  A A R P  13

Bertha and her son John talked about someday buying 
a house with a mother-in-law suite. “Then one day 
someone came along and wanted my house, so I up 
and sold it,” she explains. “But that left me homeless. I 
asked John if I could build a small house in his 
backyard and he agreed.” 

CREATIVE THINKING: A detached bedroom is a 
permanent, accessory structure that, unlike ADUs, 
lacks a kitchen. But that’s what makes these cabin-like 
homes more affordable to build than many ADUs and 
even tiny houses.

WHAT’S INSIDE: Bertha’s home contains a sleeping 
and living area and a full bathroom. “I paid for the 
little house and it’s on my son’s property. So I figured, 
if I’m cooking I can do it at my son’s house,” she says. 
(Her laundry is also done at his house.)

p A detached bedroom, which contains a bathroom but no 
kitchen, can provide housing for a loved one or serve as a 
home office or guest cottage.

HOME VISIT #8

Detached Bedroom
St. Petersburg, Florida
Size: 240 square feet

Trading Spaces
An ADU is always the smaller of two dwellings on a property, but it’s possible for an existing home to 
become the ADU when a larger house is built and becomes the primary dwelling. Or the opposite can 
happen! Tired of living in an older house that didn’t get a lot of natural light, the home’s owners built and 
moved into the bright, airy, modern and very accessible ADU they created in their yard. The original, 
larger home has become a rental.

p Although this ADU has only 721 square feet of living space, there is room enough for two bedrooms.

REAL LIFE: “Having access to my son’s house makes 
it livable. Otherwise, I personally would not be happy. 
It’s very comforting to know that John is close by. 
Hopefully this will be my home forever.”

Design: Historic Sheds | Builder: Historic Sheds | Cost to Build: $50,000 in 
2017 | Photo by Historic Sheds | Article adapted from “ADU Case Studies” 
by Lina Menard on AccessoryDwellings.org

Design: Propel Studio | Builder: JLTB Construction | Photo by Josh Partee | Cost to build: $185,000 in 2017  
Adapted from “ADU Case Studies” by Lina Menard on AccessoryDwellings.org

http://AccessoryDwellings.org
http://AccessoryDwellings.org


14 A A R P  |  The ABCs of ADUs

Practical Solutions for ADUs
Local laws can both allow and appropriately control the creation of accessory dwellings

There are more than 19,000 cities, 16,000 towns and 
3,000 counties in the United States. ADU regulations 
are typically adopted at the local level, although several 
state legislatures have required cities to allow them. 

Where it’s legal to build ADUs, homeowners still need 
to follow rules about where it can be done, how many 
square feet they can contain, how they can be used. 
These rules can be found in the local zoning code.

There is a balance to strike between prudent ADU 
laws and encouraging their construction. For instance, 
after Portland, Oregon, relaxed its ADU rules in 2010 
and waived impact fees (a savings of up to $12,000), 
the number of ADUs built rose from about 30 per year 
between 2000 and 2009 to nearly one a day in 2015. 

Changes in California’s ADU rules saw Los Angeles go 
from 80 applications in 2016 to nearly 2,000 in 2017. 
Allowing Sonoma County homeowners to add both an 
ADU and a JADU (see the green box below) were 
among the policies adopted in the wake of the area’s 
many devastating fires. 

Well-intentioned but burdensome rules can stymie 
the creation of ADUs. ADU-related zoning codes 
should be restrictive enough to prevent undesirable 
development but flexible enough that ADUs get built.

When a community is worried about a potentially 
undesirable outcome, it can — and many do — craft 
regulations to prevent particular building types, 
locations or uses. A city concerned about the 
environmental impact of new structures might 
prohibit placing detached ADUs in precarious 
locations, such as on steeply sloping lots. Communities 
wary of ADUs becoming, for instance, off-campus 
student housing can establish occupancy rules. 

Every community has its own priorities and concerns, 
and there’s a wide enough range of regulatory controls 
that communities can write appropriate ADU rules. 

This inherent flexibility in the form and function of 
ADUs allows them to pass political muster and get 
adopted in a wide range of places. (See page 16 for 
more about uses and rules.) n

Rules that discourage ADUs
• ADU-specific regulations that don’t also apply 

to primary dwellings (e.g., owner-occupancy 
requirements) 

• complex design compatibility criteria and 
approval steps

• off-street parking requirements beyond those 
required for the primary dwelling 

• restrictions that limit ADUs to certain areas, 
particular zoning categories or to large lots 

• caps on square footage relative to the primary 
house that make it easy to add an ADU to a 
large home but hard or impossible to add one 
to a small home 

Are ADUs allowed?
Find out by calling your town, city or county 
office in charge of land use and permits — or 
stop by in person. You can also search for and 
read the zoning code through the local 
government’s website.

• If ADUs are allowed, ask what conditions, 
permit needs and impact fees apply.

• If ADUs are not allowed and you want them to 
be, ask an elected official or your community’s 
department of zoning and planning how the 
codes can be updated. 

• Then get organized and start advocating!

JUNIOR ACCESSORY DWELLING UNITS (or JADUs) are smaller than 500 square feet and have a separate 
entrance but are created within the existing dwelling. A JADU can share a bathroom with the main house 
and contain a basic kitchen equipped with small plug-in appliances.

SO
U

RCE: JAD
U D

ESCRIPTIO
N

 IS BASED
 O

N
 CALIFO

RN
IA G

O
VERN

M
EN

T CO
D

E SECTIO
N

 § 65852.22.



 The ABCs of ADUs |  A A R P  15

1. A Definition: A good zoning code clearly defines its 
terminology. Here, for example, is a useful outline for what, 
in the real world, is a very fluid term: “An ADU is a smaller, 
secondary home on the same lot as a primary dwelling. ADUs 
are independently habitable and provide the basic 
requirements of shelter, heat, cooking and sanitation.”

2. The Purpose: This is where the code describes key 
reasons a community allows ADUs. They should:

• increase the number of housing units while respecting 
the style and scale of the residential neighborhood

• bolster the efficient use of existing housing stock and 
infrastructure

• provide housing that’s affordable and responds to the 
needs of smaller, changing households

• serve as accessible housing for older adults and people 
with disabilities

3.  Eligibility: Who can build an ADU and on what type of 
lot? A statement in this part of the code clarifies that an 
ADU can be placed only on a “residentially zoned lot.” 
(Some communities provide lot size standards.)

4. Creation: The code sets out how an ADU can be built. 
For instance: “An ADU may be created through new 
construction, the conversion of an existing structure, as an 
addition to an existing structure or as a conversion of a 
qualifying existing house during the construction of a new 
primary dwelling on the site.”

5.  Quantity: Most municipalities that permit ADUs allow 
one per lot. Those allowing two typically permit one 
internal and one external. Some allow duplexes or 
townhomes to have an ADU, either in the backyard or on 
the ground floor.

6.  Occupancy and Use: A code should state that the 
use-and-safety standards for ADUs match those used for the 
main dwelling on the property. (See page 17 for more.)

7.  Design Standards:

• Size and height: A zoning code might specify exactly 
how large and tall an ADU is allowed to be. For 
instance: “An ADU may not exceed 1,000 square feet 
or the size of the primary dwelling, whichever is 
smaller.” Codes often limit detached ADUs to 1.5 or 2 
stories in height. An example of that language: “The 
maximum height allowed for a detached ADU is the 
lesser of 25 feet at the peak of the roof or the height 
of the primary dwelling.”

• Parking: Most zoning codes address the amount and 
placement of parking. Some don’t require additional 
parking for ADUs, some do, and others find a middle 
ground — e.g., allowing tandem parking in the 
driveway and/or on-street parking. (See page 16 for 
more about parking.)

• Appearance: Standards can specify how an ADU’s 
roof shape, siding type and other features need to 
match the primary dwelling or neighborhood norms. 
Some codes exempt one-story and internal ADUs from 
such requirements. (See page 16 for more.)

 
8.  Additional Design Standards for Detached ADUs:

• Building setbacks: Many communities require 
detached ADUs to either be located behind the 
primary dwelling or far enough from the street to be 
discreet. (A code might exempt preexisting detached 
units that don’t meet that standard.) Although such a 
rule can work well for neighborhoods of large 
properties with large rear yards, communities with 
smaller lot sizes may need to employ a more flexible 
setback-and-placement standard. 

• Building coverage: A code will likely cap the 
combined lot coverage of a detached ADU and the 
primary dwelling to a specific percentage. 

• Yard setbacks: Most communities have rules about 
minimum distances to property lines and between 
buildings on the same lot. ADUs are typically required 
to follow the same rules. n

Creating (or Understanding) 
an ADU Zoning Code 
The ADU section of a community’s zoning code needn’t be overly complicated. 
It just needs to establish clear, objective and fair rules for the following:

Visit AARP.org/ADU to download Accessory Dwelling 
Units: Model State Act and Local Ordinance, a free 
publication that can be used by state and local officials 
to develop ADU policies.

http://AARP.org/ADU


16 A A R P  |  The ABCs of ADUs

ADU “Hot Topics”
As communities allow ADUs or update existing zoning codes and rules to be more 
ADU-friendly, they inevitably wrestle with some or all of the following issues:

Adding ADUs to neighborhoods
Recognizing that ADUs may represent a new housing 
type for existing neighborhoods, communities often 
write special rules to ensure they’ll fit in well. These 
guidelines typically address visual compatibility with 
the primary dwelling, appearance from the street (if 
the ADU can be seen) and privacy for neighbors. 
Rules that help achieve these goals include:

• height and size caps mandating that ADUs be 
shorter and smaller than the primary dwelling

• requirements that detached ADUs be behind the 
main house or a minimum distance from the street

• mandates that the design and location of detached 
ADUs be managed the same way as other detached 
structures (e.g., garages) on the lot

• design standards for larger or two-story ADUs so 
they architecturally match the primary dwelling or 
reflect and complement neighborhood aesthetics

• encouragement for the creation of internal ADUs, 
which are often unnoticeable from the street

Each community can strike its own unique balance 
between strict rules to ensure that ADUs have a 
minimal impact on neighborhoods and more flexible 
rules that make them easier to build. 

Providing places to park
ADU regulations often include off-street-parking 
minimums on top of what’s already required for the 
primary dwelling. Such rules can prevent homeowners 
from building ADUs if there’s insufficient space for added 
parking. However, the extra parking often isn’t needed. 

Studies of Portland, Oregon, and the San Francisco 
Bay area found that ADU households own an average 
of 0.9 cars. That’s half the national average of 1.8 cars 
per household. With just over 2 percent of Portland 
homes having an ADU (the highest percentage of any 
large city in the country), there’s roughly one extra 
car parked on the street every six blocks. This suggests 
that, even in booming ADU cities, any impact on street 
parking from ADUs is likely to be very small and 
dispersed. More-realistic parking rules might:

• require the creation of new parking only if the ADU 
displaces the primary dwelling’s existing parking

• waive off-street-parking requirements at locations 
within walking distance of transit

•  allow parking requirements for the house and ADU 
to be met by using a combination of off-street 
parking, curb parking and tandem (one car in front 
of the other) parking in a driveway

Dealing with unpermitted ADUs
It’s not uncommon for homeowners to convert a 
portion of their residence into an ADU in violation 
(knowingly or not) of zoning laws or without permits.

Such illegal ADUs are common in cities with tight 
housing markets and a history of ADU bans. One 
example is New York City, which gained 114,000 
apartments between 1990 and 2000 that aren’t 
reflected in certificates of occupancy or by safety 
inspections. Sadly, in 2021, several city residents living  
in unsafe basement apartments drowned in their 
homes due to flooding caused by Hurricane Ida.

Some cities have found that legalizing ADUs, simplifying 
ADU rules and/or waiving fees can be effective at 
getting the owners of illegal housing units to “go legit” 
— and address safety problems in the process. n

PH
O

TO
S: M

ELISSA STAN
TO

N
, A

ARP

p Providence, Rhode Island, has many homes that were 
built as or long-ago converted into multidwelling units. 
(Notice the two front doors.) A homeowner can live in one 
apartment while renting out the other. 



Allowing and Restricting Uses 

Communities get to decide whether to let ADUs be used just like any other housing type or to create special 
rules for them. Some municipalities prefer the simple approach: regulating ADUs like other homes. So if a 
home-based child-care service is allowed to operate in the primary dwelling, it is also allowed in an ADU. 
Conversely, communities sometimes adopt ADU-specific regulations in order to avoid undesirable impacts 
on neighbors. Examples of those regulations include:

Limiting short-term rentals

ADUs tend to work well as short-
term rentals. They’re small and the 
owner usually lives on-site, making 
it convenient to serve as host. 
However, if ADUs primarily serve 
as short-term rentals, such as for 
Airbnb and similar services, it 
undermines the objective of 
adding small homes to the local 
housing supply and creating 
housing that’s affordable. 

In popular markets, short-term 
rentals can be more profitable 
than long-term ones, allowing 
homeowners to recoup their ADU 
expenses more quickly. In addition, 
short-term rentals can provide 
owners with enough income that 
they can afford to occasionally use 
the ADU for friends and family.

A survey of ADU owners in three 
Pacific Northwest cities with 
mature ADU and short-term rental 
markets found that 60 percent of 
ADUs are used for long-term 
housing as compared with 12 
percent for short-term rentals. 

Respondents shared that they 
“greatly value the ability to use an 

ADU flexibly.” For instance, an 
ADU can be rented nightly to 
tourists, then someday rented to a 
long-term tenant, then used to 
house an aging parent. ADUs 
intended primarily for visting 
family are sometimes used as 
short-term rentals between visits.

Cities concerned about short-term 
rentals can regulate them across 
all housing types. Doing so might 
mean that special rules are not 
needed. An approach employed in 
Portland, Oregon, is to treat ADUs 
the same as other residences 
except that any financial incentives 
(such as fee waivers) to create 
them are available only if the 
property owner agrees not to use 
the ADU as a short-term rental for 
at least 10 years.

Requiring owner occupancy

Some jurisdictions require the 
property owner to live on-site, 
either in the primary house or its 
ADU. This is a common way of 
addressing concerns that absentee 
landlords and their tenants will 
allow homes and ADUs to fall into 
disrepair and negatively impact the 
neighborhood.

Owner-occupancy rules are usually 
implemented through a deed 
restriction and/or by requiring that 
an annual statement confirming 
residency be filed. Some cities go 
further, saying ADUs can be occupied 
only by family members, child- or 
adult-care providers, or other 
employees in service of the family.

Owner-occupancy requirements 
make the financing of ADUs more 
difficult, just as they would if 
applied to single-family homes. 
But as ADUs have become more 
common, owner-occupancy 
restrictions have become less so, 
which is good. Such requirements 
limit the appraised value of 
properties with ADUs and reduce 
options for lenders should they 
need to foreclose. 

Enforcing owner-occupancy laws 
can be tricky, and the rules have 
been challenged in courts, 
sometimes successfully. However, 
according to a study by the Oregon 
Department of Environmental 
Quality, more than two-thirds of 
properties with ADUs are owner-
occupied even without an owner-
occupancy mandate. n

t The zoning code of Brevard, North Carolina, a city  
of fewer than 10,000 residents, allows ADUs, which  
are referred to as “secondary dwelling units” and are 
allowed “within residentially-zoned, single-family  
and duplex lots.” The code states that such homes  
“shall be encouraged and designed to meet housing 
needs,” adding that “[s]econdary dwelling units shall 
be accessory and subordinate to the primary living 
quarters.” In the image at left, the one-story cottage  
is the primary dwelling. The apartment above the 
detached garage is the secondary dwelling. 

 The ABCs of ADUs |  A A R P  17



18 A A R P  |  The ABCs of ADUs

Inside Spaces
ADUs vary from studio apartment–like spaces to multi-bedroom, multi-story 
structures. Regardless of size, the result is a needed residence

p A top floor ADU can be a suitable rental for a student or someone who travels a lot for work. ADU expert Kol 
Peterson grew up in a home with an attic ADU that was usually rented to law school students. “They had to walk 
up the primary house’s interior stairs in order to access the affordable attic unit,” he writes in Backdoor 
Revolution: The Definitive Guide to ADU Development. “Over the years that each of them lived there, the tenants 
became part of our family.”

p The alcoves in the ADU area above a garage provide a 
light-filled work space in one, and a reading nook in the 
other. (See the attached ADU’s exterior on page 3.)

p This studio apartment internal ADU uses a wardrobe 
cabinet to separate the bedroom from the living area 
and kitchen (seen on page 19).

PH
O

TO
S: KO

I PETERSO
N

, BU
ILD

IN
G

 AN
 AD

U.CO
M

 (TO
P) | M

ELISSA STAN
TO

N
 (BO

TTO
M

 LEFT) | BILLY U
LM

ER (BO
TTO

M
 RIG

H
T)

http://BUILDINGANADU.COM


 The ABCs of ADUs |  A A R P  19

p The kitchen of this internal ADU (also seen at the 
top of page 9 and in the bedroom image at left) has a 
full-sized range but a mini-refrigerator. Some ADU 
owners install a one- or two-burner electric cooktop 
and a convection microwave in lieu of an oven.PH

O
TO

S:
 E

LI
 S

PE
VA

K,
 O

RA
N

G
E 

SP
LO

T,
 L

LC
 (

TO
P 

AN
D

 B
O

TT
O

M
 R

IG
H

T)
 | 

BI
LL

Y 
U

LM
ER

 (
BO

TT
O

M
 L

EF
T)

p As an independent living space, an ADU has its own bathroom and kitchen. Depending on the available square 
footage — and sometimes on the local zoning code or the property’s plumbing and utility connections — an ADU 
might have a full kitchen with full-sized appliances and a dining area (top) or a smaller but functional kitchenette. 
This interior is from the detached ADU pictured below right and on the back cover. Fun fact: A coat closet and 
extra kitchen shelving are built into the base of the circular staircase. In a small home, every bit of space counts!

p The second story of this detached ADU is accessed 
by the spiral staircase shown in the image at top. The 
space features a bedroom and a sitting area that could 
be used as a nursery, office or den. A full-sized, 
stacked washer-dryer is hidden behind a closet door. 



20 A A R P  |  The ABCs of ADUs

Top: Design and Builder: Lina Menard, Niche Consulting | Photos by Guillaume Dutilh, PhotoXplorer
Bottom: Design and Builder: Benn Kovco | Photos by Jeff Freeman Photography

Because tiny houses are typically built on a trailer with wheels rather 
than a fixed foundation, they are usually treated by zoning as 
recreational vehicles (RVs) or manufactured (aka mobile) homes. In 
Portland, Oregon, and a growing number of smaller cities, tiny 
houses can be legally occupied on any residentially-zoned lot.  Since 
they’re small — typically under 400 square feet — tiny houses can fit 
in a space too small for an ADU. Many include a kitchen and 
bathroom. Some function more like a detached bedroom. A unique 
plus: Unlike ADUs, tiny houses can move to a new location as needed. 

t p “The Lucky Penny” tiny 
house measures 8 feet wide by 14 
feet, 6 inches long and provides 
100 square feet of living space. 
The home, which is located in the 
backyard of a single-family 
residence, features a pullout bed, 
a kitchenette, a shower, built-in 
storage, and three large windows 
plus a skylight to provide lots of 
nature light.

tq ADUs are sometimes used as 
short-term rental units for 
travelers. The “Kangablue,” is one 
of several units at Caravan, the 
“world’s first tiny house hotel.” At 
170 square feet, the home is the 
largest tiny house on the lot, 
located in the Cully neighborhood 
of Portland, Oregon. The tiny 
space includes a kitchen, living 
area, bathroom (with a shower 
and toilet) and a sleep loft.

Just One More
While not technically ADUs, tiny houses can serve a similar purpose



The ABCs of ADUs 
A guide to Accessory Dwelling Units and how they  
expand housing options for people of all ages

WRITTEN AND EDITED BY: Eli Spevak, Orange Splot LLC | Melissa Stanton, AARP Livable Communities
ART DIRECTOR: Mimi Park, Design Park, Inc. 
COPY EDITOR: Don Armstrong | ART PRODUCTION: Steve Walkowiak

PROJECT ADVISERS AND REVIEWERS:
Danielle Arigoni, Director, Livable Communities, AARP Government Affairs
Karen Chapple, Professor, University of California, Berkeley
Lina Menard, Founder, Niche Consulting
Heather Peters, Senior Housing and Community Development Policy Analyst, San Mateo County, California
Kol Peterson, Cofounder, AccessoryDwellings.org | Owner, Accessory Dwelling Strategies LLC, Portland, Oregon
Denise Pinkston, Partner, TMG Partners
Harriet Tregoning, (Past) Principal Deputy Assistant Secretary, U.S. Housing and Urban Development
Jake Wegmann, Assistant Professor, University of Texas at Austin

COVER IMAGE CREDITS (clockwise from top left)
Front: Alex Hayden | Communitecture: Architecture, Planning, Design | AccessoryDwellings.org | Melissa Stanton, AARP | AccessoryDwellings.org
Back: Kol Peterson, BuildingAnADU.com | Eli Spevak, Orange Splot LLC | Schuyler Smith, Polyphon Architecture & Design, LLC

A NOTE TO READERS: Many of the photographs and project examples in this publication are from Portland, Oregon, which was one of the first 
municipalities in the nation to allow and encourage the creation of accessory dwelling units. 

To learn more about ADUs — and to order or download this guide — visit AARP.org/Livable.

Other useful resources include:

•  AccessoryDwellings.org 

•  BuildingAnADU.com

•  Planning.org (the website of the American Planning Association)

•  And the websites of the states, cities and towns mentioned in this guide as allowing and encouraging the 
creation of accessory dwelling units.



• An accessory dwelling unit is a small residence that 
shares a single-family lot with a larger primary dwelling. 

• As an independent living space, an ADU is self-contained, 
with its own kitchen or kitchenette, bathroom and  
living/sleeping area. (Garage apartments and backyard 
cottages are each a type of ADU.)

• ADUs can enable homeowners to provide needed 
housing for their parents, adult children, grandchildren 
or other loved ones. 

• An ADU can provide older adults a way to downsize on 
their own property while a tenant or family member 
resides in the larger house.

• Since homeowners can legally rent out an ADU house or 
apartment, ADUs are an often-essential income source.

• ADUs help to improve housing affordability and diversify 
a community’s housing stock without changing the 
physical character of a neighborhood. 

• ADUs are a beneficial — and needed — housing option 
for people of all ages.

Learn more about ADUs and 
order or download 

The ABCs of ADUs
by visiting  

AARP.org/ADU
__________________

Sign up for the free, weekly  

AARP Livable 
Communities 
e-Newsletter

Be among the first to learn when 
AARP releases more livability 

guides and resources.

AARP.org/LivableSubscribe

D20473

DETACHED ADUDETACHED-BEDROOM ADU

ABOVE-GARAGE ADU

http://AARP.org/ADU
http://AARP.org/Livable-Subscribe


 

 

 



 

North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-09 
Page 1 

Ordinance No. 2024-09 
 

AMENDING CHAPTERS 165, 167, 168, 169 AND 180 OF THE 
NORTH LIBERTY CODE OF ORDINANCES, INCLUDING 
REGULATIONS FOR PRELIMINARY SITE PLANS, 
CERTIFICATES OF ZONING COMPLIANCE, DEFINITIONS, 
RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT DIMENSIONAL STANDARDS, USES 
LISTED IN THE USE MATRIX, USES DEFINED AND USE 
STANDARDS, OFF-STREET VEHICLE PARKING 
REQUIREMENTS, PARKING LOT LANDSCAPING, FENCES AND 
WALLS, PERMITTED ENCROACHMENTS INTO REQUIRED 
YARDS, DESIGN STANDARDS AND REQUIRED 
IMPROVEMENTS FOR SUBDIVISIONS 
 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH LIBERTY, IOWA: 
 

SECTION 1.  AMENDMENT OF ORDINANCE. Subsection 2, Paragraph F of Section 165.05 and 
Table 165.05-A of the North Liberty Code of Ordinances, are amended to read as follows: 
 
F. Modifications. The development shall be substantially in conformance with the approved 

preliminary site plan. Amended preliminary site plans shall be submitted to the Code 
Official for determination if the amendment can be approved administratively or if the 
amendment requires review by the Planning Commission and approval by City Council. In 
determining whether the amendment qualifies for administrative or Planning Commission 
review/City Council approval, the Code Official shall use the criteria in Table 165.05-A. 
Under no circumstance shall any such amendment conflict with any minimum or 
dimensional standard and/or requirement in this code. 
 

Table 165.05-A Preliminary Site Plan Amendments 

Amendment Administrative 
Planning Commission review/ 

City Council approval 

Land Use 

Any decrease. Any increase of less than 20% 
of the square footage allocated to any land 
use type on the approved plan, except 
increases in open space/recreation area 

Increase of 20% or more of the square 
footage allocated to any land use type on the 
approved plan, except increases in open 
space/recreation area 

Project Scale 

Any decrease. Any increase in density or 
intensity of use of less than: 
- 20% gross floor area 
- 10% of the number of dwelling units 

Increase in density or intensity of use as 
follows: 
- 20% or greater gross floor area 
- 10% or greater of the number of dwelling 

units 

Open Space/ 
Recreation Area 

Any increase. Any decrease less than 10% size 
reduction or change in location or 
characteristics 

10% or more size reduction or change in 
location or characteristics 

Setbacks Any increase. Any decrease of less than 20% Decrease of 20% or more 

Height Decrease in height or number of stories 
Increase in height greater than/equal to 20% 
or an increase of one story 

Parking Spaces Any decrease. Increase of less than 20% Increase of 20% or more 



 

North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-09 
Page 2 

 
SECTION 2. AMENDMENT OF ORDINANCE. Section 165.06 of the North Liberty Code of 
Ordinances is amended as follows: 
 
No land and/or building shall be occupied or used in whole or in part until a certificate of zoning 
compliance is issued by the Code Official recognizing that the use of land and/or building 
complies with zoning regulations, and/or completed site improvements are in compliance with 
the issued permit or approved construction site plan. The issuance of a certificate of zoning 
compliance by the Code Official shall be required for the following: 
1. Completion of site improvements in accordance with an issued permit and/or approved 

construction site plan. A final certificate of occupancy shall not be issued prior to the 
issuance of a certificate of zoning compliance. 

2. New occupancy for a non-residential use in a building or portion of a building. 
3. Change of occupancy for a non-residential use in a building or portion of a building. A 

change of occupancy is defined as a change from group to another group. 
 

 
SECTION 3.  AMENDMENT OF ORDINANCE. Section 167.01 of the North Liberty Code of 
Ordinances, is amended to delete the definitions of “accessory living quarters” and “kitchen”. 
 
SECTION 4.  AMENDMENT OF ORDINANCE. Subsection 5 of Section 168.02 of the North 
Liberty Code of Ordinances, is amended as follows: 
 
5. Dimensional Standards. 

A. RS Districts. 
 

Table 168.02-A Dimensional Standards 
SF = Square Feet, ‘ = Feet 

 RS-3 RS-4 RS-6 RS-7 RS-8 RS-9 

Bulk       

Minimum Lot Area 15,000 SF 10,000 SF 7,000 SF 6,000 SF 5,000 SF 4,500 SF 

Minimum Frontage 50’ 40’ 35’ 35’ 35’ 35’ 

Minimum Lot Width 100’ 80’ 70’ 60’ 60’ 40’ 

Maximum Building 
Height 

35’ 35’ 35’ 35’ 35’ 
35’ 

Setbacks            

Minimum Required  
Front Yard 

25’ 25’ 25’ 20’ 20’ 20* 

Minimum Required 
Corner Side Yard 

25’ 25’ 25’ 20’ 20’ 25’ 

Minimum Required 
Side Yard 

10’ 10’ 8’ 5’ 5’ 5’ 

Minimum Required 
Rear Yard 

30’ 30’ 30’ 25’ 25’ 25’ 

*Garage doors facing a public street shall be setback a minimum of 25’ 



 

North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-09 
Page 3 

B. RD and RM Districts. 

 
Table 168.02-B Dimensional Standards 

SF = Square Feet, DU = Dwelling Unit, ‘ = Feet 

 RD-8 RD-10 RM-8 RM-12 RM-21 

Bulk (Prior to Subdividing 
into DU Individual Lots) 

     

Minimum Lot Area 
10,000 SF 

 
9,000 SF 

 
21,780 SF 

 
21,780 SF 

 
21,780 SF 

 

Minimum Frontage 40’ 35’ 75’ 50’ 50’ 

Minimum Lot Width 100’ 80’ 100’ 80’ 80’ 

Maximum Building Height 35’ 35’ 40’ 40’ 65’ 

Maximum Density -- -- 8 DU/Acre 12 DU/Acre 21 DU/Acre 

Setbacks (Prior to 
Subdividing into Individual 

DU Lots) 
          

Minimum Required 
Front Yard 

25’ 25’ 25’* 25’* 25’* ** 

Minimum Required 
Corner Side Yard 

25’ 25’ 25’* 25’** 25’* ** 

Minimum Required 
Side Yard 

8’ 5’ 15’ 15’ 10’* 

Minimum Required 
Rear Yard 

30’ 30’ 30’ 30’ 30’** 

Bulk (After Subdividing 
into Individual DU Lots) 

     

Minimum Lot Area 5,000 SF 4,500 SF 1,500 SF 1,500 SF 1,500 SF 

Minimum Frontage 25’ 20’ 10’ 10’ 10’ 

Minimum Lot Width 50’ 40’ 15’ 15’ 15’ 

Maximum Building Height 35’ 35’ 40’ 40’ 40’ 

Setbacks (After 
Subdividing into Individual 

DU Lots) 
          

Minimum Required 
Front Yard 

25’ 25’ 25’** 25’** 25’** 

Minimum Required 
Corner Side Yard 

25’ 25’ 25’** 25’** 25’** 

Minimum Required 
Side Yard (Between Units) 

0’ 0’ 0’ 0’ 0’ 

Minimum Required 
Side Yard (at the End of 

Units) 
8’ 5’ 5’ 5’ 5’ 

Minimum Required 
Rear Yard 

30’ 30’ 30’ 30’ 30’ 

*Townhouses may reduce setback to a minimum of 20’ except when garage doors face a public street. 
Notwithstanding the foregoing, there shall be a minimum setback of 20’ to any sidewalk or street edge 
**An additional foot of setback is required for every foot of building height over 45’ 



 

North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-09 
Page 4 

 
C. R-MH District 

 
Table 168.02-C Dimensional Standards 

SF = Square Feet, ‘ = Feet 

 Manufactured Home Park Manufactured Home Site 

Bulk   

Minimum Lot Area 10 acres 5,500 SF 

Minimum Frontage 400’ 35’ 

Minimum Lot Width 500’ 50’ 

Maximum Building Height -- 35’ 

Minimum Separation Distance -- 
10’ as measured between the walls 

of manufactured homes 

Setbacks     

Minimum Required Front Yard 25’ 20’ 

Minimum Required 
Corner Side Yard 

25’ 20’ 

Minimum Required 
Side Yard 

25’ -- 

Minimum Required 
Rear Yard 

25’ 25’ 

 

 



 

North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-09 
Page 5 

SECTION 5.  AMENDMENT OF ORDINANCE. Paragraphs 27-31 and 75 of Section 168.07 of 
the North Liberty Code of Ordinances are amended to read as follows:  
 
27. Dwelling – Multiple–Unit. 

A. Defined. Multiple-Unit Dwelling means a structure containing three or more 
attached dwelling units used for residential occupancy. A multiple-unit dwelling 
does not include a townhouse dwelling. 

B. Use Standards.  
(1) Buildings must be designed with consistent materials and treatments that 

wrap around all building elevations. There must be a unifying architectural 
theme for the entire multi-unit development, utilizing a common 
vocabulary of architectural forms, elements, materials, or colors in the 
entire structure. 

(2) Building facades must include windows, projected or recessed entrances, 
overhangs, and other architectural features. Three-dimensional elements, 
such as balconies and bay windows, are encouraged to provide 
dimensional elements on a facade. 

(3) To the maximum extent permitted by Iowa Code § 414.1(1)(h), minimum 
required masonry on front and corner side yard building elevations in 
residential districts is 25%. 

(4) A 15% minimum transparency requirement applies to any facade facing a 
street and is calculated on the basis of the entire area of the facade. 

(5) Buildings shall be oriented to the best extent possible so that attached 
garages doors do not face the public right-of-way. 

(6) Additional commercial district design standards. 
(a) Roofs shall be designed to be generally flat and shall be concealed 

from view by use of parapet walls or other architectural methods. 
Portions of roofs that are curved or pitched may be allowed as 
architectural accents but shall not be used as the primary roof 
design. 
 

28. Dwelling - Single-Unit. 
A. Defined. Single-Unit Dwelling means a structure containing only one dwelling unit 

on a single lot. 
B. Use Standards.  

(1) The structure must contain 24 feet of width at its largest dimension. 
(2) The structure must contain a minimum living area of 660 square feet. 
(3) The structure must be located on a frost-protected perimeter foundation. 
(4) Every room within a dwelling unit must be accessible from every other 

room within the dwelling via a completely internal route within the 
envelope of the dwelling structure. 

(5) To the maximum extent permitted by Iowa Code § 414.1(1)(h), minimum 
required masonry on front yard building elevation is 25%, with the 
exception that masonry is not required in the RS-7 and RS-8 districts. 



 

North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-09 
Page 6 

(6) On corner lots, the façade facing the corner side yard shall contain two 
insets and/or protrusions, such as wall corners, bay windows, cantilevers, 
etc., or other means approved by the Code Official. As an alternative, two, 
two-inch caliper trees may be planted in the corner side yard. 

(7) The front entry must be an integral part of the structure, using features 
such as porches, raised steps and stoops with roof overhangs, or 
decorative railings to articulate the front facade. 

(8) A 5% minimum transparency requirement applies to the front facade and 
is calculated on the basis of the area of the facade below the roofline. 

(9) A dwelling with a front-facing attached three-car garage shall have one of 
the garages offset a minimum of one foot from the other garages. 

(10) Front-facing garages shall not exceed 16’ or 60% the width of the front 
building line, whichever is greater. Garage width is measured between the 
edges of the garage door; in the case of garages designed with multiple 
garage doors, the distance is measured between the edges of the 
outermost doors. 

 
29. Dwelling – Single-Unit Zero Lot Line. 

A. Defined. A Single-Unit Zero Lot Line Dwelling means a structure containing two 
dwelling units, the interior of which is configured in a manner such that the 
dwelling units are separated by a party wall and are on separate lots. A single-unit 
zero lot line dwelling is typically designed so that each unit has a separate exterior 
entrance and yard areas. 

B. Use Standards. 
(1) Each unit must have an approved one-hour fire-resistive wall between 

them that is built in such a manner as to allow no connections other than 
the wall itself between the units 

(2) The front entry must be an integral part of the structure, using features 
such as porches, raised steps and stoops with roof overhangs, or 
decorative railings to articulate the front facade. 

(3) To the maximum extent permitted by Iowa Code § 414.1(1)(h), minimum 
required masonry on front yard building elevation is 25%. 

(4) On corner lots, the façade facing the corner side yard shall contain two 
insets and/or protrusions, such as wall corners, bay windows, cantilevers, 
etc., or other means approved by the Code Official. As an alternative, two, 
two-inch caliper trees may be planted in the corner side yard. 

(5) A 5% minimum transparency requirement applies to the front facade and 
is calculated on the basis of the area of the facade below the roofline. 

 
 
 
  



 

North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-09 
Page 7 

30. Dwelling – Townhouse.  
A. Defined. Townhouse Dwelling means structure consisting of three or more 

dwelling units, the interior of which is configured in a manner such that the 
dwelling units are separated by a party wall and may or may not be on separate 
lots. A townhouse is typically designed so that each unit has a separate exterior 
entrance and yard areas. A townhouse dwelling does not include a multi-family 
dwelling. To provide for design flexibility, a townhouse dwelling development may 
include single-unit and two-unit dwellings. 

B. Use Standards.  
(1) Each unit must have an approved one-hour fire-resistive wall between 

them that is built in such a manner as to allow no connections other than 
the wall itself between the units 

(2) The front entry must be an integral part of the structure, using features 
such as porches, raised steps and stoops with roof overhangs, or 
decorative railings to articulate the front facade. 

(3) To the maximum extent permitted by Iowa Code § 414.1(1)(h), minimum 
required masonry on front yard building elevation in residential districts is 
25%. 

(4) A 5% minimum transparency requirement applies to the front facade and 
is calculated on the basis of the area of the facade below the roofline. 

(5) Additional commercial district design standards. 
(a) Buildings shall be oriented to the best extent possible so that 

attached garages doors do not face the public right-of-way. 
(b) Roofs shall be designed to be generally flat and shall be concealed 

from view by use of parapet walls or other architectural methods. 
Portions of roofs that are curved or pitched may be allowed as 
architectural accents but shall not be used as the primary roof 
design. 

(c) A 15% minimum transparency requirement applies to any facade 
facing a street and is calculated on the basis of the entire area of 
the facade. 

 
31. Dwelling - Two-Unit.  

A. Defined. A Two-Unit Dwelling means a structure containing two dwelling units, 
arranged side-by-side with each unit having an exterior entrance, on a single lot. 
To provide for design flexibility, a two-unit dwelling development may include 
single-unit dwellings. 

B. Use Standards. 
(1) The front entry must be an integral part of the structure, using features 

such as porches, raised steps and stoops with roof overhangs, or 
decorative railings to articulate the front facade. 

(2) To the maximum extent permitted by Iowa Code § 414.1(1)(h), minimum 
required masonry on front yard building elevations is 25%. 



 

North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-09 
Page 8 

(3) On corner lots, the façade facing the corner side yard shall contain two 
insets and/or protrusions, such as wall corners, bay windows, etc., or other 
means approved by the Code Official. As an alternative, two, two-inch 
caliper trees may be planted in the corner side yard. 

(4) A 5% minimum transparency requirement applies to the front facade and 
is calculated on the basis of the area of the facade below the roofline. 

 
75.    Truck Stop 

A.   Defined. Truck stop means an establishment where short-term parking is 
providing for semi-trucks and other large trucks. A truck stop may also include 
ancillary truck wash bays. 

B.    Use Standards. None. 
 
SECTION 6.  AMENDMENT OF ORDINANCE. Paragraph 6 of Section 169.02 of the North 
Liberty Code of Ordinances, is amended as follows: 
 
6. Parking Lot Interior Landscape. 

All parking lots consisting of 15 or more spaces require interior parking lot landscape as 
described in this section. 
A. All rows of parking stalls must terminate in a parking lot island or landscape area. 
B. Where more than 15 parking stalls are provided in a row, one parking lot island 

must be provided between every 15 parking spaces. As part of the landscape plan 
approval, parking lot island locations may be varied based on specific site 
requirements or design scheme, but the total number of islands must be no less 
than the amount required of one island for every 15 spaces. 

C. Parking lot islands must be at least the same dimension as the parking stall. 
Double rows of parking must provide parking lot islands that are the same 
dimension as the double row. 

D. A minimum of one shade tree must be provided in every parking lot island or 
landscape area. If a parking lot island extends the width of a double row, then two 
shade trees are required. A tree is not required if there is insufficient area due to 
pedestrian accommodations (limited to connected walkways and outdoor seating 
areas) within the island. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  



 

North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-09 
Page 9 

SECTION 7.  AMENDMENT OF ORDINANCE. Paragraph 6, 7 and 8 of Section 169.04 the 
North Liberty Code of Ordinances, is amended as follows: 
 
6.  Height. 

The height of all fences and/or retaining walls located within a front, corner side yard, 
side, or rear yard shall not exceed those found in Table 169.04. 
 

Table 169.04 Maximum Fence and Wall Height 

District Front Yard Corner Side Yard Side Yard Rear Yard 

Residential Districts 4’ 4’ 6’ 6’ 

All Other Districts 4’ 4’ 16’ 16’ 

1. Fences shall not be located within the corner visual clearance. 
2. Chain link fences shall not be located within the required front or required corner side yard 

(see exception within number 4 below). 
3. Fences shall not exceed 8’ in height if the property abuts a residential district. 
4. With the exception of a reverse corner lot, a fence up to 6’ high may be erected on that 

portion of the corner lot at the rear of the house provided the fence is erected a minimum of 
15 feet from any sidewalk, driveway, or right-of-way line. Said fence shall comply in all other 
respects with the fence requirements. 

 
7. Location. 

Fences and walls shall be located entirely within the confines of the property lines except 
for fences located next to a public or private alley shall maintain a minimum 2-foot 
separation between the fence and alley property line. No fence or wall shall encroach on 
or obstruct a public sidewalk. 

8. Design and Maintenance Standards. 
A. Except where impracticable (such as a shadowbox fence, split rail fence, etc.), the 

frame of a fence, including posts, rails, and supports shall be placed on the inside 
of the fence and facing towards the property on which the fence is erected. 

B. All fences and walls shall be constructed in a sound and sturdy manner and shall 
be maintained in a good state of repair, including the replacement of defective 
parts, painting, and other acts required for maintenance. 

9. Prohibited Fence Material. 
The following fences are prohibited, except as provided in this chapter or for permitted 
agricultural residential gardening uses to protect against rodents, vermin, and pests: 
A. Metal fences with the exception of chain link, wrought iron, and simulated wrought 

iron  
B. Electrical fences or any kind of electrically charged fences 
C. Wood panel fence  
D. Plywood or oriented strand board (OSB) 
E. Pallets or any used repurposed material 
F. Chicken wire 
G. Snow fence, except as provided below  



 

North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-09 
Page 10 

A snow fence may be erected on a temporary basis, not to exceed six months, to 
alleviate the adverse effects of drifting snow or to warn and prevent access to an area by 
unauthorized persons. When erected on a temporary basis to prevent access of 
unauthorized persons to any area, a snow/safety fence shall be removed within 24 hours 
after the elimination of the reason for which the fence was erected originally. 

 
SECTION 8.  AMENDMENT OF ORDINANCE. Table 169.08 of Section 169.08(8)(B) the North 
Liberty Code of Ordinances, is amended as follows: 
 

Table 169-08: Permitted Encroachments Into Required Yards  
and Exceeding Maximum Building Height 

Y= Permitted // N= Prohibited 
Max. = Maximum // Min. = Minimum 

 
Required 

Front/Corner 
Side Yard 

Required 
Side Yard 

Required 
Rear Yard 

Exceed Max. 
Building 
Height 

Accessibility Ramp Y Y Y N 
Air Conditioner Window Unit 
Max. projection of 18” from building 
wall 

Y Y Y N 

Arbor or Trellis Y Y Y N 
Awning or Sunshade 
Max. of 40% of the required yard or 
4’, which ever is less. 
Does not include awnings used as a 
sign (See Chapter 173) 

Y Y Y N 

Bay Window  
Max. of 2’ 
Min. of 24” above ground 

Y Y Y N 

Canopy 
Max. of 2’ 
Does not include canopies used as a 
sign  
(See Chapter 17.12) 

Y Y Y N 

Chimney 
Max. of 18” into required yard 

Y Y Y Y 

Elevator and Stairway Bulkheads N N N Y 
Emergency sirens and similar 
devices. 

N N N Y 

Deck (uncovered) 
Min 5’ from side lot line 
Min 10’ from rear lot line 

N Y Y N 

Dog House 
Min. of 4’ from any lot line. 

N N Y N 

Eaves, Gutters and Downspouts 
Max. of 4’ into required yard 

Y Y Y N 

Fire Escape 
Max. of 3’ into required yard 

N Y Y Y 

Fire Training Tower N N N Y 
Grain Elevator (and necessary 
mechanical appurtenances 

N N N Y 



 

North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-09 
Page 11 

Table 169-08: Permitted Encroachments Into Required Yards  
and Exceeding Maximum Building Height 

Y= Permitted // N= Prohibited 
Max. = Maximum // Min. = Minimum 

 
Required 

Front/Corner 
Side Yard 

Required 
Side Yard 

Required 
Rear Yard 

Exceed Max. 
Building 
Height 

Landscaping Y Y Y N 
Patio (uncovered) 
Min. 5’ from any lot line 

N Y Y N 

Pergola (attached) 
Min 5’ from side lot line 
Min 10’ from rear lot line 

N Y Y N 

Personal Recreation Game Court 
Min. of 5’ from any lot line 

N N Y N 

Playground Equipment 
Min. of 4’ from any lot line 

N N Y N 

Sidewalk 
Min. of 1’ from any lot line except 
front lot line. 

Y Y Y N 

Sills, Belt course, Cornices, and 
Ornamental features  
Max. of 2’ into required yard 

Y Y Y N 

Silos N N N Y 
Smokestack N N N Y 
Steeples, Spires and Belfries N N N Y 
Steps (providing access to an 
entryway) 

Y Y Y Y 

Stoop 
Max. of 4’ into required yard 

Y Y Y N 

Utility Equipment (Directly 
Connected to Structure being 
Served). 
Max. of ½ into Required Yard 

N Y Y Y 

Water Towers and Cooling Towers N N N Y 
Window Wells Y Y Y Y 

 
SECTION 9.  AMENDMENT OF ORDINANCE. Paragraph G of Section 169.10(2) the North 
Liberty Code of Ordinances, is amended as follows: 

 
G. Roof top equipment shall be screened on all sides of the building as viewed in plan 

elevation.  
 
  



 

North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-09 
Page 12 

SECTION 10.  AMENDMENT OF ORDINANCE. Paragraph 12 of Section 180.12 the North 
Liberty Code of Ordinances, is amended as follows: 
 
12.    Sanitary Sewers. The subdivider shall provide a complete sanitary sewer system, including 

stubs, for each lot, which shall connect with a sanitary sewer outlet approved by the City 
Engineer. The sanitary sewer in each defined drainage area shall extend to the subdivision 
boundaries and beyond, as necessary to provide for the extension of the sanitary sewer 
to adjacent property, as determined by the City.  

 
SECTION 11.  REPEALER.  All Ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of 
this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 12.  SCRIVENER’S ERROR.  The correction of typographical errors which do not affect 
the intent of the ordinance may be authorized by the City Clerk or the Clerk’s designee without 
further public hearing. 
 
SECTION 13.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section, provision or part of this Ordinance shall be adjudged 
invalid or unconstitutional, such adjudication shall not affect the validity of the Ordinance as a whole 
or any section, provision or part thereof not adjudged invalid or unconstitutional. 
 
SECTION 14. WHEN EFFECTIVE. This ordinance shall be in effect from and after its final passage, 
approval and publication as provided by law.  
 
First reading on September 24, 2024.  
Second reading on _____________.   
Third and final reading on ____________. 
 
CITY OF NORTH LIBERTY: 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
CHRIS HOFFMAN, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
I, Tracey Mulcahey, City Clerk of the City of North Liberty, hereby certify that at a meeting of the 
City Council of said City, held on the above date, among other proceedings, the above was 
adopted. 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
TRACEY MULCAHEY, CITY CLERK 



 

North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-09 
Page 13 

 
 
 
I certify that the forgoing was published as Ordinance No. 2024-09 in The Gazette on the ____ of 
___________, _____.   
 
 
_______________________________________       
TRACEY MULCAHEY, CITY CLERK 



 

Corridor Media Properties 
Rezoning 



 

 

 

 



 

 

 



 



 



 

 



 

 
 



North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-08 
Page 1 

 

Ordinance No. 2024-08 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING THE ZONING MAP DISTRICT 
DESIGNATION FOR CERTAIN PROPERTY LOCATED IN 
NORTH LIBERTY, IOWA FROM O/RP OFFICE AND RESEARCH 
PART DISTRICT TO C-3 HIGHER-INTENSITY COMMERCIAL 
DISTRICT  
 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF NORTH LIBERTY, IOWA: 
 
SECTION 1.  AMENDMENT.  The Official Zoning Map incorporated in Chapter 168.01(2) of the 
North Liberty Code of Ordinances is hereby amended the zoning as follows: 

 
Lot 1 The Villas at Liberty Executive Park – Part Five to North Liberty, Johnson 
County, Iowa according to the Final Plat thereof recorded in Book 59, Page 356, 
Plat Records of Jonson County, Iowa. 

 
SECTION 2.  CONDITIONS IMPOSED.  At the September 3, 2024, meeting the Planning 
Commission accepted the listed finding and forwarded the request for a zoning map amendment 
to the City Council with a recommendation for approval with no conditions. 
 
SECTION 3.  ZONING MAP.  It is hereby authorized and directed that the Zoning Map of the City 
of North Liberty, Iowa, be changed to conform to this amendment upon final passage, approval 
and publication of this ordinance as provided by law. 
 
SECTION 4.  RECORDATION.  The City Clerk is hereby authorized and directed to record this 
ordinance at the Johnson County Recorder’s office upon final passage and approval. 
 
SECTION 5.  REPEALER.  All Ordinances and parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions 
of this Ordinance are hereby repealed. 
 
SECTION 6.  SCRIVENER’S ERROR.  The correction of typographical errors which do not affect 
the intent of the ordinance may be authorized by the City Clerk or the Clerk’s designee without 
further public hearing. 
 
SECTION 7.  SEVERABILITY.  If any section, provision or part of this Ordinance shall be adjudged 
invalid or unconstitutional, such adjudication shall not affect the validity of the Ordinance as a 
whole or any section, provision or part thereof not adjudged invalid or unconstitutional. 
 
SECTION 8. WHEN EFFECTIVE. This ordinance shall be in effect from and after its final passage, 
approval and publication as provided by law.  
 
First reading on September 10, 2024.  
Second reading on September 24, 2024.   



North Liberty – 2024  Ordinance Number 2024-08 
Page 2 

 

Third and final reading on ____________. 
 
CITY OF NORTH LIBERTY: 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
CHRIS HOFFMAN, MAYOR 
 
ATTEST: 
I, Tracey Mulcahey, City Clerk of the City of North Liberty, hereby certify that at a meeting of the 
City Council of said City, held on the above date, among other proceedings, the above was 
adopted. 
 
 
_______________________________________ 
TRACEY MULCAHEY, CITY CLERK 
 
 
 
I certify that the forgoing was published as Ordinance No. 2024-08 in The Gazette on the ____ of 
___________, _____.   
 
 
_______________________________________       
TRACEY MULCAHEY, CITY CLERK 



 

Additional Information   



 
 
 
 
 
 

 
To Mayor and City Council 
CC City Administrator 
From Tom Palmer, Building Official 
Date 10/2/2024 
Re     Monthly Report_____________________________________________________ 

 

 
September Permits: 
 

Ninety-three permits were issued in the month of September with an estimated 

construction value of 15.7 million dollars. Nine building permits issued for new single family 

dwelling units with construction valve of 2.5 million dollars. Staff completed 436 inspections 

in the month of September. 

 
 
Rental/Code Compliance Cases: 

Twelve rental permit applications were received in September. Two code compliance case was 
processed in September. 

 

 
 
New Commercial Projects:  

 
 

Three commercial permit applications were submitted in September for total construction 
value of 7.36 million dollars. Corda Credit Union located 1265 Hayes Lane, North Liberty Food 
Pantry located at 350 West Penn Street and Starbuck Coffee located at 1255 Hayes Lane.  

 

 
 
 
 
 



Description Construction Value Permits
Building  $11,420,466.04 55
Demolition $0.00 2
Development $0.00 1
Fire $265,976.36 2
Residential Rental $0.00 12
Right of Way $0.00 1
Stormwater $0.00 8
Zoning $4,187,989.00 12
Total $15,874,431.40 93

Fees Breakdown

$200.00
$57,879.68

$0.00
$0.00

$1,358.00
$23.50

$600.00

    Permit Type Report
Permit Date

09/01/2024 to 09/30/2024

Fees
$55,648.18

$50.00

 



    Permit Summary Report Inspection Type    
    Schedule Date1/1/2024 TO 09/30/2024    

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Row Total

Inspection request 19 42 46 39 27 47 37 33 24 0 0 0 314
Re-inspection 33 20 35 46 66 42 47 46 34 0 0 0 369

1st SWPPP 0 4 6 7 3 6 9 4 15 0 0 0 54
Above Suspended Ceiling 1 0 0 2 1 3 2 1 2 0 0 0 12

Backflow Preventer 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 2
Building Sewer 1 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Certificate of Occupancy 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 1
Commercial Final 2 0 1 4 1 3 2 2 1 0 0 0 16

Commercial Rough-In 0 1 4 2 1 1 1 0 3 0 0 0 13
Commercial Water Service 0 2 0 0 0 1 0 1 0 0 0 0 4

Deck, Porch, Sunroom Footings 4 4 7 6 7 16 14 9 9 0 0 0 76
Final 11 14 12 11 10 12 17 14 18 0 0 0 119

Fire - Automatic Sprinkler System 1 5 5 2 10 4 3 5 0 0 0 0 35
Fire - Automatic Sprinkler System - Preconcealment 2 0 1 4 1 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 10

Fire - Compressed Gas Detection 0 0 0 0 0 0 2 1 0 0 0 0 3
Fire - Final Inspection 1 1 0 7 7 3 5 7 0 0 0 0 31

Fire - Fire Alarm Installation 1 0 0 3 5 4 4 5 0 0 0 0 22
Fire - Fire Alarm Installation (Rough-In) 3 0 1 3 1 0 2 3 0 0 0 0 13

Fire - Kitchen Hood Suppression System Installation 0 0 1 0 3 1 2 1 1 0 0 0 9
Fire - Mobile Food Unit 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 3

Fire - Operational - Temporary Membrane Structures/Tents 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
Fire - Rough In 0 0 0 1 1 0 1 3 0 0 0 0 6

Fire - Vehicle Exhaust Ventilation Equipment 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 0 0 0 0 1
Footings/Slabs 0 8 11 9 9 9 8 8 19 0 0 0 81

Foundation Dampproofing 0 3 9 3 3 6 6 2 16 0 0 0 48
Foundation Wall 1 6 10 8 10 5 9 2 23 0 0 0 74

Framing 0 1 0 1 0 0 1 0 2 0 0 0 5
Furnace/AC Replacement 0 0 0 5 4 12 15 5 4 0 0 0 45

Gas service release 16 3 6 9 3 5 12 9 22 0 0 0 85
Grading 1 13 2 9 4 3 8 8 1 0 0 0 49
Meeting 1 0 2 3 2 3 2 2 1 0 0 0 16

Notice of Termination CSR 1 3 10 8 1 3 5 2 2 0 0 0 35
Other 0 1 2 5 2 3 2 0 1 0 0 0 16

Permanent Electric Service Release 9 7 1 22 17 15 18 17 16 0 0 0 122
Plumbing below slab 1 6 15 6 6 11 7 6 14 0 0 0 72

Rental 31 41 12 6 8 0 4 89 105 0 0 0 296
Residential final (New Construction) 8 8 25 13 17 15 12 7 15 0 0 0 120

Residential Photovolatic (PV) Solar System 2 2 3 0 2 0 0 6 2 0 0 0 17
Residential Rough-in (New Construction) 12 7 0 17 18 9 13 11 10 0 0 0 97

Residential Sewer Service 0 7 20 10 5 6 8 5 19 0 0 0 80
Residential Water Service 0 8 16 10 5 10 8 5 19 0 0 0 81

Rough-in 3 1 1 5 2 5 3 3 2 0 0 0 25
Sanitary Sewers 1 4 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5

Sidewalk Release 2 3 12 7 2 2 5 2 3 0 0 0 38
Sump Pump Discharge Line 0 5 8 0 10 3 8 12 15 0 0 0 61

Temporary Electric Service 0 3 8 8 8 6 8 6 8 0 0 0 55
Water Heater 0 1 0 0 1 2 5 3 3 0 0 0 15

Water Main and Appurtenance 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1
Witness air pressure test and piping inspection 12 14 2 20 15 13 17 14 7 0 0 0 114

Zoning Department Acceptance 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 1 0 0 0 0 2
Totals: 182 248 295 322 299 291 336 363 436 0 0 0 2772



Case Date Case # Complaint Reporting 
Code 

9/3/2024 20240067 Drainage tile issue Stormwater
9/10/2024 20240068 Past due backflow test reports City Code

Code Compliance Report

9/1/2024 - 9/30/2024

Page: 1 of 1



Breakdown of Backflow Preventer Compliance

163

2

211

1

108

11

113

1

0

60

120

180

240

300

Domestic- (165) Fire- (212) Irrigation- (119) Misc- (114)

Non Compliant Compliant
Fire Protection / Fire Detector Bypass=Fire

Domestic / Domestic Bypass=Domestic

Lawn Irrigation=Irrigation

All Others=Isolation



 

 

To Mayor and City Council 
CC City Administrator Ryan Heiar 
From Community Relations Director Nick Bergus 
Date Sept. 27, 2024 
Re September 2024 Community Relations Staff Report  

City Slate 
September was a slower month, with our first movie night on the City Hall plaza held Sept. 
13. The turnout for the showing of Inside Out 2 was phenomenal with more than 400 
attendees.  The team took time to continue refining a schedule for 2025 and laid 
preparations for October’s Halloween Trail (Oct. 11) event. Details about events on the 
Slate can be found at northlibertyiowa.org/cityslate. 

Welcoming Week 
We hosted the Family Health & Wellness Fair at the Ranshaw House which included a wide 
array of community organizations focused on health offering activities and information, 
bounce houses, food and more. Turnout was approximately 400 during the event and 
the partnerships with immigrant-serving organizations was the strongest we’ve had. 
Micah’s work strengthened our relationships with these organizations and their leaders 
and successfully convened a program for an underserved audience. 

Welcome Guide 
We updated our Welcome Guide, a resource for new residents that is helpful to those 
already here as well. Copies are available at the Community Center and City Hall. 

Neighborhood Ambassadors 
We hosted the first meeting on the new cohort of Ambassadors with meaningful ice 
breakers, instructions to staff and services and the Community Center and other fun. The 
two dozen residents going through the new program which will meet four more times 
during the year to learn more about the city with the goal of building a larger network of 
ambassadors and North Liberty advocates. 

Sponsorship 
Jillian began her annual work to renew sponsorship partners and find new ones. These 
partnerships pay for much of our community engagement work and it has been helpful to 
pull them into a single annual campaign. These sponsors help pay for City Slate, Summer 
Lunch and Fun, Blues and BBQ and more. 



Other Items 
Staff volunteered with the Bike Iowa City, North Liberty Community Pantry, 100+ Women 
Who Care, Johnson County Successful Aging Policy Board and worked with other local 
initiatives and non-profits. 

Staff represented North Liberty at the Iowa League of Cities’s Iowa Mayors Association 
discussing youth councils, on the Community Development Innovation Council, Greater 
Iowa City, Inc., City Connections Lunch, the American Society of Civil Engineers meeting 
and elsewhere. 

We produced the City Council meeting and submitted it to local entities, and produced 
several podcasts for the library in addition to 52317 episodes. 

We posted news releases about City Slate events, activity highlights, road projects, 
emergency services and responses, and more.  

Completed Videos 
Title Requested By Completed Duration 
Planning & Zoning Administration Sept 3 0:44 
Parks & Recreation Administration Sept 5 0:28 
City Council Administration Sept 10 0:30 
Library Board of Trustees Administration Sept 16 0:39 
City Council Administration Sept 24 0:52 
Eye on: Police Community Relations Sept 26 0:04 
Total completed productions: 6 Duration of new video: 3.3 hours 

  



52317 Podcast  
Episodes release every three weeks and can be found at northlibertyiowa.org/52317.  

 
Downloads is the number times the podcast file was downloaded to a player, including a podcast client, webpage-
embedded player or other device in its first 30 days and 90 days of publication. Numbers are as reported by service 
provider LibSyn as of the date of this report.  

North Liberty Bulletin Email Newsletters 
These emails offer news and updates in a friendly, approachable way on the first 
Thursday of each month. 

 
Recipients is the number of email addresses to which an issue of the Bulletin was sent and is represented by the top line. 
Opens is the number of unique recipients who opened the Bulletin and is represented by the bottom line; the standard 
open rate for government is 25.4%. Numbers are as reported by service provider Mailchimp.  

  

78 80 76

129

77

101

127

94

133

101

124
113

136

88 90 83

137

87

113

144

107

152

110

0

20

40

60

80

100

120

140

160

95 96 97 98 99 100 101 102 103 104 105 106 107

7,378 7,358 7,364
9,089 9,060

15,873 16,951 16,765 16,698 16,528 16,407 16,323 16,225

3,676 3,705 3,391
4,513 4,424

8,246
9,787 8,980

7,891 8,723 8,230 7,551
8,721

0
2,000
4,000
6,000
8,000

10,000
12,000
14,000
16,000
18,000

Sept. Oct. Nov. Dec. Jan.
2024

Feb. March April May June July August Sept.



Know Before You Go Emails 
These emails focus on free, large-scale community and leverage the city’s email list. It is a 
key marketing channel for City Slate events. 

 
 
Recipients is the number of email addresses to which an issue of the Bulletin was sent and is represented by the top line. 
Opens is the number of unique recipients who opened the Bulletin and is represented by the bottom line; the standard 
open rate for government is 25.4%. Numbers are as reported by service provider Mailchimp. 

Social Media  
Month Facebook  Instagram  Nextdoor 
 New follows Reach Followers Members 
Sept 112 69,482 3,507 7,000 
Aug 110 37,807 3,471 6,935 
July 108 75,615 3,462 6,851 
June 128 69,922 3,425 6,762 
May 125 74,483 3,394 6,708 
April 89 84,900 3,368 6,665 
March 130 56,333 3,341 6,579 
Feb 102 72,100 3,313 6,498 
Jan 2024 107 46,047 3,273 6,413 
Dec 69 43,961 3,235 6,339 
Nov 122 59,918 3,209 6,289 
Oct 105 63,718 3,182 6,206 
Sept  112 82,206 3,145 6,151 

Facebook new likes is the net number of new users following the city’s Facebook page; it does not include new followers. 
Facebook reach is the number of unique users who saw any of the city’s Facebook content, reported on a 28-day period. 
Instagram followers is the number of users following the city’s Instagram account. Nextdoor members is the number of 
verified North Liberty residents who are users and able to receive our agency messages. 

15,35015,296 16,04816,02115,97215,937 15,85915,84115,81615,78015,743 15,667 16,411 16,301
15,364

7,649 7,741 8,0138,035 8,2127,877 7,7057,9327,9478,668
7,837 8,077

9,292
8,0607,743

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

10,000

12,000

14,000

16,000

18,000

3/20/24 4/20/24 5/20/24 6/20/24 7/20/24 8/20/24



TO:Johnson County Board of Supervisors
FROM: Jennie Garner, Library Director 
DATE: Oct 2, 2024 
SUBJECT: Monthly Library Report 

Library News 
The library is currently displaying poetry written by local students on the meeting room 
windows in collaboration with the City of Literature. It’s always a delight to read a few 
when you walk down the main hallway. Additionally, we are currently hosting the 
Authentic Selves Exhibit for the month of October.  

Exhibit info: 
Authentic Selves is an exhibition that features photographs and interviews with 
individuals of all ages who identify as trans, nonbinary, and gender fluid, along 
with some of their family members. Through first-person accounts and beautiful 
images, this exhibition aims to challenge myths and stereotypes about trans and 
nonbinary people. 

The exhibition delves into the many aspects of gender identity and variance by 
sharing these important stories. It celebrates a range of views, opinions, and 
experiences that are unique and empowering to trans and nonbinary individuals. 
By encouraging people of all ages to affirm and appreciate diversity, Authentic 
Selves contributes to the process of dismantling prejudice and intolerance. 

As a remarkable tool designed to prevent bullying and increase empathy and 
connection, Authentic Selves aspires to make the world a safer place for all 
people. 



The library hosted more than 40 librarians, including five of our staff, for the State 
Library Learning Circuit. We spent the day learning about uses for artificial 
intelligence (AI) along with ethics and challenges for librarians surrounding AI. There 
are many ways library workers use AI to assist in doing their work, such as drafting 
policy and creating marketing tools. We also discussed copyright, privacy, and ethical 
implications that come with more people using AI. As with other technology, libraries 
will need to be prepared to educate our patrons on practical uses and how to use the 
tools available, such as selecting the appropriate tool and writing effective prompts. 
While most of us have been using AI tools for years without even being aware; it’s 
growing in popularity and changing rapidly with more and more tools available all the 
time.    

I had the honor of co-presenting at the 2024 League of Cities Conference in Sioux City 
in September with Sam Helmick (Iowa City Public Library) and Tyler Hahn (Cherokee 
Public Library) for a session. The session, titled Public Libraries: Catalysts for Civic 
Renewal, was attended by about 45-50 municipal representative. We discussed 
collaborating across departments, building sustainable relationships, and advocacy 
work locally to nationally. We’ll present on the same topic, encouraging librarians to 
work with their city colleagues and leaders, at the Iowa Library Association Conference 
on Oct. 11.  

I also had the pleasure of co-presenting with Sam Helmick at the Association for Rural 
& Small Libraries conference in September in Springfield, MA. We spoke about 
intellectual freedom and access to information to about 80 librarians from all over the 
country in a session called Intellectual Freedom: Choose Your Own Adventure, using an 
interactive slide presentation, which was a lot of fun and a great way to have attendee 
participation.  

Finally, check out this Black Iowa News article by NLL Public Services Librarian, Kellee, 
on tactics to avoid election stress published this week.  

https://blackiowanews.com/election-stress-try-these-3-ways-to-remain-unbothered-during-the-final-stretch-of-this-crazy-election-season/


The graph below shows total circulation of physical material from the library. We are 
entering the fall (and a new fiscal year, depicted in light blue) which is definitely our 
slowest time circulation-wise.  We are pleased that we continue to see increases and 
that our circulation is above what it has been at this time of year over the past four 
years, with 2020 -21 being significantly lower with the epidemic. Many libraries are 
trending down in physical materials circulation so it’s great to see our stats rising.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Interestingly, our primary (picture books) have remained more constant and even dropped a bit 
in FY25, whereas our juvenile materials (beginning readers and chapter books) is growing. 
Andrew, our Collection Development Librarian, and I have discussed and hypothesize that as 
our population of babies is growing up, we see more checkouts from middle-grade readers, 
which has in the past been a lower circulating collection. (Scroll for Juvenile graph) 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Scroll for more highlights 



We celebrated National Library 
Card Signup Month in 
September with a Library booth 
and Book Bike at the Movie on 
the Plaza. 

\ The Bad Art program in 
September was a ton of fun. 
People paired up to draw 
purposely bad portraits of each 
other. The smiles tell the story. 
Adults love arts and crafts too! 



 

 

To Mayor and City Council  
Parks and Recreation Commission  
City Administrator 

From Guy Goldsmith, Director of Parks, Building and Grounds 
Date      October 1, 2024 
Re Monthly Report 

 

We performed various ground & building maintenance tasks as needed this month. We repaired the 
irrigation pump at Liberty Centre Pond/Park. T&T tuckpointing has finished the north and west 
elevations of the Rec Center building and are now painting. 

We maintained equipment as needed this month by performing preventative maintenance, repairing 
ball field maintenance, mowing, trimming, and landscaping equipment.  

The pickleball courts continue to be in high demand every day. We ensure nets and use zones are 
playable daily. 

We continue to pick up park/trail trash receptacles and pet waste stations daily. 

The landscaping crew has been very busy maintaining landscaping areas this past month. We continue 
to monitor all new plants and trees daily for moisture content and plant health. We have begun 
removing the old roundabout landscaping at Pebble court and Fairview Lane to make way for a new 
look.   

We continue to mow and trim our parks and grounds.  

We graded & seeded a large area on the east side of the Ranshaw house to enhance the area for future 
events.  

Our forestry crew continues to trim and remove dead and declining trees. We continue to remove tree 
stumps as time permits. 

Our sports field maintenance team continues to provide weekly field maintenance and field line 
painting. We continue to have soccer games and weekend ball tournaments. We also sprayed ball field 
fence lines for weeds. 

The Penn Meadows playground and splash pad rubber surfacing project has been completed and now 
open to the public. The Penn Meadows splash pad will remain open until cooler weather arrives, which 
is probably right around the corner. We clean and tidy the area daily.    

The Fox Run Park improvement project just wrapped up. The grading/seeding has been completed and 
the playground has been complete as well. We have received a lot of great comments from resident that 
are enjoying the new trail and playground.  

Park staff installed a matching memorial bench at Fox Run Park.  This was funded by a nearby resident.   



We added riprap rock to areas of erosion at West Lakes Park and Beaver Kreek Park. 

Park staff installed new LED lighting at the welcome sign on West Penn Street near Arby’s.  

I attended multiple meetings with Shive Hattery this past month. Freedom Park project is currently in 
the design phase. We completed a punch list walk through with Shive Hattery and the Contractor at Fox 
Run Park Improvement project.  

 

                    

Rec Center tuckpointing and painting project underway. 

                    

Landscaping maintenance. 

                    

Pebble Court & Fairview Lane roundabout landscaping improvements. 



                     

Ranshaw house grading and seeding improvments. 

                     

Tree removals continue. 

                       

Ball field maintenace and soccer field line painting. 



                    

Penn Meadows Playground and Splash Pad now have a new rubber saftey surface installed. 

                    

Fox Run Park Playground has finished and now open to the public. 

                    

Fox Run Improvement Project grading and seeding has been completed. 

 

 

 

 

 



 

                    

Memorial bench installed at Fox Run Park. 

                    

Riprap stone placed at West Lakes and Beaver Kreek Park for errosion control. 

                    

West Penn Street welcome sign has new LED Lights. 

                         

                            

   



 
 

North Liberty Police 
Monthly Report 

September 2024 
 
Training: 
 
• Officers completed precision driving, felony traffic stop 

and Taser training at Hawkeye Downs (110 hours). 
 
 
 
 
 

  
• Recruit Officer Jacob Boevers and Officer Noah 

Conard are still at the Iowa Law Enforcement and 
Hawkeye Academies for their required training.  
 

Public Relations: 
 
• Officers were asked to assist with security at area 

sporting events. This is paid for by the outside entities.   
• One staff member attended the 

ribbon cutting for the new Domestic 
Violence Intervention (DVIP) shelter.  
The new shelter will be able to  
handle twice as many survivors. 

• With the assistance from Liberty High School and the Street Department, officers worked the Liberty 
Homecoming parade.        

• Officer DeBoer went to a community invite at Garner Elementary and was recruiting future police 
officers.   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
• Officer Jeff McVey and Officer Liz Monroe received public  

life savings award for an event last December with a suicidal 
female. Both officers received letters and pendants for their  
uniforms from the Mayor. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

 

  
Traffic Contacts 135 

Parking Contacts 30 
Vehicle Inspections 1 

Vehicle Unlocks 13 
Crash Investigations 27 

Public Assists 278 
Assist other Agency 127 

    Crimes Against Persons Report 13 
      Crimes Against Property Report 23 
                                   Other Reports 21 
                                              Arrests 22 
                                           Warrants  3 

Alcohol/Narcotics Charges 5 
Crimes Against Persons Charges 5 
Crimes Against Property Charges 3 

Other Charges 11 
Animal Calls 64 

Total Calls for Service 1538 
*Total Calls for Service for the year 15314 



North Liberty Police Department   September  2024 Monthly Report 
 
 
Equipment:       
                                                                                                 
• Flock Cameras are still being installed around town. This is taking longer than anticipated 

because on some of the pole permits and permissions need to be acquired for the 
placement of a camera.  Flock is working on the permitting 6 more cameras around town.    
 

Enforcement/Crime: 
 

• To review any criminal complaints for the month List of Criminal Complaints | Johnson 
County Iowa or see North Liberty Calls for service go to Joint Emergency Communications 
Center (jecc-ema.org)  or you can visit the crime map at LexisNexis® Community Crime 
Map and type in North Liberty. 

• We were awarded another year of the Governors’ Traffic Safety Bureau (GTSB) grant for 
traffic enforcement in for the FFY 2025.  We ask for $15,000 for overtime for general 
enforcement and impaired driving enforcement and we ask for $3,700 in equipment that 
includes a Lidar and Preliminary Breath Test (PBT) which is used for impaired driving.    

• Requested and set-up the speed trailer on N. Sunset Drive for both north and southbound 
traffic.     

 
Department Admin:   
   
• Officer Rhonda Hayes and Record Clerk Lauryn Rich submitted their resignations. Both are 

going to Iowa City PD, and we wish them the best at their new department. 
• The admin records clerk position was posted, and we have received 72 applications so far 

and will hold interviews immediately.   
• Completed the quarterly mental health liaison report with Kieonna Pope.  About 35% of all 

calls are involving North Liberty residents with a majority of the calls being follow-up related.  
• Chief was invited and attended the reunification set-up and training with Iowa City 

Community School District. 
• Lt Ross is working on a police officer promotional hiring video with the Communications 

department. 
• Officer Tiffany DeBoer received a letter of commendation from the Chief for her assistance 

in helping a new recruit train and pass the physical agility testing. We really appreciate her 
helping this new hire out with her own time and funds.  

• Budget planning is starting for the department for FY2026. All officers were given an 
opportunity to suggest budget items for the department for consideration.   

• New hire backgrounds are being completed on potential new officer candidates. 
• Department completed our 3-year audit of our use and dissemination of National Crime 

Information Center (NCIC) for training and releasing of data.    
 
Submitted on 10/2/2024 
 

 



 

 

To Park & Recreation Commission Board Members 
CC Mayor, City Council, City Administrator 
From Shelly Simpson 
Date October 1, 2024 
Re Monthly Report – September 2024 
 
Numerous activities/programs began in September. Aqua Dance Fusion and other aquatic 
fitness classes are well attended. Pee Wee Football and youth pickleball began and swim lessons 
started Sept 24. Community Center exterior tuckpointing and painting was completed. Some 
staff members attended the IPRA Fall Conference to learn new information.   
 
Recdesk Database:  
Reviewing our Recdesk database; we have 15,119 residents (59%) and 10,559 non-residents 
(41%) totaling 25,678 individuals. Increase of 175 from last month. 
 
Aqua Programs: 
Aqua classes resumed. Aqua Boot Camp (10), Aqua Dance Fusion (18), Aqua Zumba (5), Arthritis 
MWF (15), Arthritis T TH (15), Easy Does It (17), Water Resistance (9) totaling 89, plus drop-ins.  
Aqua Program/Class revenue totaled $2,348.00.  
 
Swim Lessons: 
Swim lessons began Sept 24. Level 1 (30), Level 2 (30), Level 3 (29), Level 4 (26), Level 5 (12), 
Level 6 (11), Parent Tot (39), Tadpoles (24), Private (50), totaling 251 participants. 
Rec Swim Team had 24 participants. Adult Swim Lesson had 4 participants. 
Revenues totaled $3,060.00. 
 
Leagues/Sports: 
Youth leagues continued and new classes such as Youth Pickleball (16) and Cross Country (26) 
participants began this month.  
Pee Wee Football had (6) AM participants, (40) PM participants.  
Self Defense class had (5) participants. 
Adult Co-ed Volleyball has (4) teams; Men’s Basketball has (8) teams. 
Adult Pickleball Lessons had (12) participants. 
Sport/Leagues revenues totaled $4,590.00. 
 
Recsters BASP Program:  
BASP (Sept) has AM (20) and PM (50), totaling 70 kids. 
BASP revenues this month totaled $13,090.00 
 
Classes/Programs: 
Tippi Toes Dance: Baby Ballet (10), Ballet Tap Jazz (24) Tippi Pro (11) and Toddler & Me (14), 
totaling 59 dancers. 
Aerobics Classes: Body Blast (7), Total Body Sculpt (8), Zumba (7), Taiji (1), Jiujitsu (2), totaling 23 
registered, plus drop-ins.  
Connection Luncheons served (140) meals this month. 



Maintaining Cars 101 had (17) participants. 
Classes/Programs revenue totaled $11,610.50.    
 
Special Events/Programs: 
Communications Dept led an outdoor movie at CH Plaza on Sept 13 which was well attended. 
 
Pools: This month, Season Pool Pass revenues totaled $1,960; Daily Pool Fees totaled $3,052; 
Pool Rentals totaled $875, and Concessions revenues totaled $199.25.  
 
Weight & Exercise Area / Track: 
Weight fee revenues totaled $11,056.50; Split membership revenues totaled $4,575 
We had 3,309 active memberships for the month. 
We had 1,018 point of sale transactions for the month. 
 
Rentals:  
Gymnasium Rental revenues totaled $3,376.25; Community Center Rental revenues totaled 
$1,287.50; Shelter rental revenues totaled $176.25; Field Rental/Tennis Courts revenues totaled 
$4,622.17. 
 
Revenues: 
Revenues for September totaled $65,893.72. 
 
Additional Reports: Recdesk Monthly Revenue, Dashboard Summary, Membership Summary 
and Organizational Activity.  



 

 

To Mayor and City Council 
CC City Administrator Ryan Heiar 
From Street Superintendent Michael Pentecost 
Date October 1, 2024 
Re Street Department Staff Monthly Report for September 

The following items took place in the month of September that involved the Street Department. 

• Locating of City Utilities (280 job tickets) ongoing  

a. This is an increase of 3% from September 2023 

• Continued animal control services (8 responses to animal issues) 

• Cemetery plot locates (4 in total) 

• Projects/Meetings 

a. Street Department Building Project 

i. Contractor continues working on punch list items 

ii. Staff is starting to move equipment and office items back in 

b. W Forevergreen Rd Traffic Signal Project (traffic signals to be added at S Kansas 

Ave and S Jones Blvd at W Forevergreen Rd in both locations) 

i. Weekly progress meetings 

ii. Project is 90% complete 

iii. All 3 signals at Kansas, Jones, and U of I intersection are operational 

iv. Final seeding and punch list items to complete 

c. I380/Penn St meeting with DOT to continue to plan and design 

• Training 

a. Hearing protection by Vector Solutions 

b. CPR/AED/First Aid on-line and hands-on training completed 

c. All staff completed FIT Testing (for respiratory protection) 

• Street Department provided traffic controls for Liberty High Homecoming Parade 

• Sanitary Sewer 

a. Inspection of various manhole locations  

• Construction plan review of proposed subdivisions and site plans 

• Street labor employee interviews conducted 

a. Decision on candidate to be selected in early October 

• Street Repairs 

a. Rachael St  

i. South side traffic lane and sidewalk has now been completed 

ii. Restoration and seeding done and this section is 100% open to traffic 

• Staff conducted monthly safety inspections for all street equipment and buildings 

• Annual Fire alarm and sprinkler testing completed 

• Monthly warning siren testing in all 8 locations 



                               
 

African Spurred Tortoise picked up by animal control (He is faster then he looks) 

 

       
 

                  New office area in Street Department building project 



Rachael Bridge Concrete Project 

             
 

Reinforced steel matting embedded in road before the pour 

 

  

Staff pouring the south half of the road 

 

 



 

 

Completed Rachael St road project 



 

 

To City Council, Mayor, and City Administrator 
From Drew Lammers 
Date Oct. 1, 2024  
Re        Sept. 2024 Water Pollution Control Plant (WPCP) Report 

1. All scheduled preventative maintenance at the plant and lift stations was completed. 87 
work orders were completed throughout September.  Maintenance staff pulled 1 lift 
station pump due to high amperage.  They found an obstruction and were able to 
remove it and retest the pump.  It was reinstalled for operational service. 
Staff also painted all exterior wet well and valve pit vent pipes and sludge loadout piping 
at the treatment facility and lift stations throughout the month. 

 
2. This month’s staff safety meeting topic was Emergency Action Plan. Staff completed 

target solutions training online and reviewed the training topic as a group.  Staff 
discussed our department action plans for all areas of the treatment facility. 

   
3. Operations and Lab completed all monthly sample results and reports. Monthly Influent 

Flow Avg. was 1.86 MGD.  0.38 MG of solids were wasted from the biological tanks to 
digesters during September. Contractors hauled semi-loads of biosolids from the 
treatment facility to a field south of Tiffin where they are stockpiled until equipment 
arrives for land application. Staff will continue to haul biosolids to the stockpile until 
application is complete.   
 

4. The North digester tank was cleaned, and scaffolding was set up for concrete repair 
contractors.  Staff also removed all the aluminum toe-kick guards around the entire tank 
walkway and pressure washed the concrete catwalks.  Contractors will begin repairing 
broken concrete areas throughout these walkways. 
 

5. Membrane recovery cleans began starting with Train 4.  This train has cassettes that 
were installed in 2016 and 1 cassette that is from the original 2008 membrane project.  
The train was cleaned and soaked overnight once with citric and hydrochloric acid and 
again the next night with chlorine before pulling membranes for inspection and repairs.  
Overall, the membranes in train 4 are in good shape.  The 2008 cassette is showing its 
age but continues to produce quality effluent, so we will continue to run it as a lifecycle 
test cassette.   
 
The remaining 3 membrane trains will be cleaned throughout the next 3 weeks.  If 
anyone has interest in seeing and learning about these membranes and specifically our 
maintenance procedures, please contact us for a site visit. 

 

Drew Lammers - WPCP Superintendent 



 

 

 

                                                             Repainted Exterior Piping  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



                                       North Digester Cleaned and Scaffolding Installed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Membrane Repairs 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



                                   Cleaning and Inspecting Membrane Modules 

 

 

 

               

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                         Installing module into water bath for leak detection 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



                                Cutting Out a Membrane Strand With a Leak 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



                             Injecting Silicone to Repair Leaking Fiber 



 

City of North Liberty – 2024 
Page: 1 

Planning Commission 
October 1, 2024 

Council Chambers, 360 N. Main Street 
 
Call to Order 
Chair Amy Yotty called the October 1, 2024, Planning Commission to order at 6:30 p.m. in the 
Council Chambers at 360 N. Main Street.  Commission members present: Sheila Geneser, Valerie 
Ward, Dave Willer, Amy Yotty; absent – Barry A’Hearn, Josey Bathke, Jason Heisler. 
 
Others present: Ryan Rusnak, Ryan Heiar, Grant Lientz, Tracey Mulcahey, Randy Lang, John 
Marner, and other interested parties.    
 
Approval of the Agenda  
Willer moved, Geneser seconded to approve the agenda. The vote was all ayes. Agenda approved. 
 
Buck Moon Villas Preliminary Site Plan  
Staff Presentation 
Rusnak presented the request of Buck Moon Villas, LLC to approve a Preliminary Site Plan for 11 
townhouse units in three buildings on 1.6 acres. The property is located on the east side of North 
Dubuque Street approximately 300 feet southeast of Ranshaw Way.  Staff recommends the 
Planning Commission accept the listed finding that the preliminary site plan would achieve 
consistency with the approval standards enumerated in Section 165.05(2)(E) of the Zoning Code 
and forward the request to approve a preliminary site plan for 11 townhouse units in three buildings 
on 1.6 acres to the City Council with a recommendation for approval.  
Applicant Presentation 
Brad Cummins of the ownership group was present and offered to answer questions.  
Public Comments 
No public comments were offered.  
Questions and Comments of the Commission  
The Commission had no questions or comments on the application. 
Recommendation to the City Council 
Geneser moved, Willer seconded that the Planning Commission accept the listed finding and 
forward the preliminary site plan to the City Council with a recommendation for approval.  The 
vote was: ayes – Geneser, Ward, Yotty, Willer; nays – none; absent – A’Hearn, Bathke, Heisler. 
Motion carried.  
 
North Jones, LLC Public Hearing on Zoning Map Amendment  
Staff Presentation 
Rusnak presented the request of North Jones, LLC for a zoning map amendment (rezoning) from 
RM-8 Multi-Unit Residence District to RM-12 Multi-Unit Residence District on approximately 3.53 
acres. The property is located at 1605, 1655 and 1695 North Jones Boulevard.  Staff recommends 
the Planning Commission accept the listed finding, the zoning request from RM-8 Multi-Unit 



City of North Liberty – 2024 
Page: 2 

Residence District to RM-12 Multi-Unit Residence District would achieve consistency with the 
approval standards enumerated in Section 165.09 of the Zoning Code, and forward the request 
for zoning map amendment (rezoning) from RM-8 Multi-Unit Residence District to RM-12 Multi-
Unit Residence District on approximately 3.53 acres to the City Council with a recommendation 
for approval.   
Applicant Presentation 
Randy Lang, Watts Group, was present on behalf of the applicant and offered to answer questions. 
Public Comments 
No public comments were offered.  
Questions and Comments of the Commission  
The Commission discussed the application including the development of the park shown in the 
Comprehensive Plan. 
Recommendation to the City Council 
Geneser moved, Ward seconded that the Planning Commission accept the listed finding and 
forward the rezoning to the City Council with a recommendation for approval. The vote was: ayes 
–Yotty, Willer, Geneser, Ward; nays – none; absent – A’Hearn, Bathke, Heisler. Motion carried.  

 
Hodge Construction Company Public Hearing on Zoning Map Amendment  
Staff Presentation 
Rusnak presented the request of for a zoning map amendment (rezoning) from RM-21 Multi-Unit 
Residence District to C-3 Higher-Intensity Commercial District on approximately 5.12 acres. The 
property is located at the northeast corner of West Forevergreen Road and Bernardy Drive.    Staff 
recommends the Planning Commission accept the listed finding, the rezoning request from RM-
21 Multi-Unit Residence District to C-3 Higher-Intensity Commercial District would achieve 
consistency with the approval standards enumerated in Section 165.09 of the Zoning Code, and 
forward the request for zoning map amendment (rezoning) from RM-21 Multi-Unit Residence 
District to C-3 Higher-Intensity Commercial District on approximately 5.12 acres to the City 
Council with a recommendation for approval.   
Applicant Presentation 
Jon Marner, MMS Consultants, was present on behalf of the applicant and offered additional 
information regarding the proposed rezoning.  
Public Comments 
No public comments were offered.  
Questions and Comments of the Commission  
The Commission discussed the application including access to Forevergreen Road through 
driveways and roadways, traffic counts, and the impact of more students at the junior high on 
traffic on Forevergreen Road.  
Recommendation to the City Council 
Willer moved, Geneser seconded that the Planning Commission accept the listed finding and 
forward the zoning map amendment to the City Council with a recommendation for approval.  The 
vote was: ayes – Willer, Ward, Yotty, Geneser; nays – none; absent – A’Hearn, Bathke, Heisler. 
Motion carried.  
 



City of North Liberty – 2024 
Page: 3 

Approval of Previous Minutes 
Geneser moved, Willer seconded to approve the minutes of the September 3, 2024, meeting. The 
vote was all ayes. Minutes approved. 
 
Old and New Business 
Rusnak updated the Commission on the proposed Accessory Dwelling Units (ADUs)addition to 
the code of ordinances.  There was discussion on the process of ordinance consideration 
regarding ADUs with the City Attorney.  
 
New Business 
Rusnak reported that a couple of new applications were received this month for next month’s 
meeting.  
 
Adjournment 
At 6:56 p.m., Willer moved, Ward seconded to adjourn. The vote was all ayes. Meeting adjourned.   
 
Signed:  
Tracey Mulcahey, City Clerk 



 

 

 To North Liberty Mayor and City Council Members 
CC City Administrator Ryan Heiar 
From Water Superintendent Greg Metternich 
Date October 1, 2024 
Re Monthly Report – September 2024 

 
 
In the month of September, we treated a total of 46,346,000 gallons of water, our average daily 
flow was 1,545,000 gallons, and our maximum daily flow was 1,792,000 gallons. The total 
amount of water used in the distribution system was 9.1% higher than in September 2023.   
 
We have had a busy month with 9,422 accounts read, 57 re-reads, 70 service orders, 226 shut-
off notices delivered, 99 shut-offs, 91 re-connects for water service, 8 new meter set 
inspections, 7-meter change outs, 27 MIU change outs, assisted 9 customers with data logging 
information, 83 calls for service, and 13 after hour or emergency calls. Our monthly total service 
work averaged 32 service orders per day.   
 
Our maintenance staff started working on our bi-annual hydrant flushing program. They will be 
flushing every dead-end hydrant in the distribution system; this process will take four to six 
weeks to complete. We flush hydrants to scour the inside of the pipe, remove harmless minerals 
and sediment that collect in the water mains, this also makes sure hydrants are in working 
order.   
 
We replaced two fire hydrants and added a main line valve on Juniper Street last month, both 
hydrants required replacement of the main line tees. The existing equipment was pressed on 
and glued without using any restraint, all the new equipment used was restrained and thrust 
blocks were added. This took longer than normal to replace a hydrant, but we have very reliable 
product in the end.    
 
We successfully submitted our Lead and Copper Inventory to the IDNR, the due date for the 
inventory submittal is October 16th, 2024. The next phase of the Lead and Copper Rule Revision 
should be coming out soon, we’re not exactly sure what will be included in the revision other 
than there will be additional sampling required from areas that have not been tested in the past. 
North Liberty has very stable water (non-corrosive) and no lead in our system, other than 
additional time and effort to collect samples, I do not foresee any issues meeting regulatory 
changes going forward.    
 
 
 
Water Superintendent 
Greg Metternich 
 
 



1 
 

 
Parks & Recreation Commission Meeting Minutes 

September 5, 2024, 7:00pm 
 
Present:  Shelly Simpson, Tim Hamer, Guy Goldsmith, Richard Grugin, Nicholas Arnold, Gwen Johnson, Donglin Chai, 
Jeremy Parrish, Kevin Smith 
 
1. Call to Order 
 
2. Approval of Minutes:  Motion to approve August 8, 2024 minutes: Johnson; Second: Chai. Approved via unanimous 
consent. 
 
3. Reports 
Parks Report – Guy Goldsmith 

• Parks staff continued with building maintenance, including painting concessions stand and restroom doors at 
Penn Meadows Park. 

• The Sports Field Maintenance Team continued daily maintaining and prepped the fields for fall soccer. 
• Landscape team has been hard at work due to all the moisture but has kept up all public landscaping including 

parks, buildings, and median/roundabout work. 
• Staff removed some dead/dying trees and turned them into mulch. 
• The Fox Run Playground is nearing completion. Last step will be pouring the surfacing. Penn Meadows Park also 

received new surfacing, removing the old wood chips and resurfaced. 
• Fox Run Trail has been graded and seeded. 
• The outdoor basketball court in Penn Meadows has been completed 
• Arnold asked whether the new court could be used for an ice rink in the winter. Goldsmith said it could not 

because it does not have lights and there isn’t a way to secure it. The ice rink will not be put out this year but 
will be placed at Centennial Park once that is complete. 

• Penn Meadows Park splash pad was resurfaced and expanded slightly. Splash pads will remain open as long as 
weather allows.  

• Staff repaired a climbing stone at Centennial Park that was vandalized and cut open. 
• Tuck pointing at the Community Center is underway. 
•  

Recreation/Pool Report—Shelly Simpson 
• Simpson stated August is busy with fall program registrations and directed Board members to the financial 

statement. The outdoor pool is closed. 
• Registration numbers look good for the fall and the database continues to grow with new users of the Center. 
• Youth soccer, flag football, and volleyball are underway with approximately 450 participants. 
• Recster Summer Camps have concluded for the summer, but before/after school program is now underway. 
• About 100 tickets were available to City residents for North Liberty Night at the Kernels. 
• The City hosted a street dance and experienced a great response from the community. 
• Movie on the Plaza will be on the 13th – “Inside Out” 
• Along with the rec center tuck pointing it will receive a fresh coat of paint. 
• Grugin asked whether there were many days this summer where the pool reached capacity and people were 

turned away. Simpson stated there were a few this year due to capacity and/or water clarity. Arnold questioned 
whether the Iowa City Park Pool closure next summer could affect pool turn out in North Liberty. 



2 
 

• Parrish asked about the increase in daily fees and how it was received. Simpson stated she was surprised there 
wasn’t much negative feedback regarding the increase, but she also didn’t see as large a jump in memberships 
as she thought she might. Parrish praised the use of the twilight swim rates this summer. 

• Chai suggested a free t-shirt is included in memberships at the Rec Center. 
• Arnold asked whether the membership fees have been revisited since the raise in daily rates. Simpson stated 

they will likely wait until 2025 to explore this. Arnold suggested it is in place prior to next summer to capture 
some Iowa City residents seeking an alternative now that City Park pool is closed. 

• The Board wondered if/when a second pool would be considered for North Liberty given the growth in 
population over the past decade. Simpson stated aside from the capital costs and location, staffing for two pools 
could be a concern. 

• The Board discussed ongoing offerings for classes and community members, including Club 24 events, yoga and 
more. 
 

5.  Questions, Concerns, Updates 
• Chai congratulated the staff on the recent senior lunch she attended. 
• Chai inquired how the family membership is figured. Simpson stated that it applies to whoever is living in the 

same household. 
• Grugin asked whether the Herky statues are coming back. Goldsmith stated one is back at the Gazebo in Penn 

Meadows. 
 

Community Input / Ideas to Share  
• None 

5. Upcoming Events 
• North Liberty Community Night at the Kernel, August 16 

6. New Business 
7. Old Business 
8. Next Meeting 

a. Thursday, October 3 at 7:00 p.m. 
9. Adjourn   Motion:  Arnold; Second: Johnson.  None opposed. 

 


	Background Material.pdf
	ABCs of ADUs.pdf
	Cover: The ABCs of ADUs  
	About AARP & Orange Splot

	Welcome! Come On In 
	What ADUs Are -  And What They Can Do 
	ADUs Are Good for People and Places 
	ADUs Are an American Tradition 
	The Time Is Now 
	Bringing Back ADUs 
	ADUs Are Age-Friendly Housing 
	Practical Solutions for ADUs 
	Creating (or Understanding) an ADU Zoning Code 
	ADU “Hot Topics” 
	Inside Spaces 
	Just One More 
	Back Cover





